

LUND UNIVERSITY

Graduate School Master's Programme in Social Scientific Data Analysis Department of Social Work.

> The Impacts of Climate Change on the Livelihoods of Small-Scale Traders in Zambia: A Case Study of Cross-Border Traders in Kazungula District

> > By Victor Saidi Phiri

SIMZ51 Master's Thesis (30 credits ECTS) 17, May 2023. Supervisor: Max Koch Examiner: Jan Magnusson

Abstract

Climate change is one of the global problems that the world is facing today. Previous studies have shown that climate change has negatively affected the livelihoods of the vulnerable population. However, understanding climate change is usually influenced by how it affects a person's livelihood. For agriculturedependent communities, it has been documented that climate change includes rainfall variability and its effects on production. Nevertheless, there is limited evidence regarding climate change and its effects on non-agriculture-dependent livelihoods. This study builds on the current literature by investigating the impacts of climate change on the livelihoods of the cross-border traders in Kazungula district. The study adopted a single case study design and employed semi-structured interviews, a focus group discussion and document analysis. The study was guided by the Sustainable Livelihood Approach and Capability Approach. The study found that traders understood climate change as rainfall variability, extreme temperature, and drought. The effects of climate change were mainly associated with mobility and reduced profits in their business, which impacted their ability to meet basic needs. The respondents had opted for coping strategies, including joining village banking groups, giving goods on credit, and changing their type of business. However, the adaptation process was found to be impacted by other factors, such as border restrictions (related to power relations), limited access to financial capital, lack of skills and lack of institutions to support the traders to effectively adapt to the impacts of climate change. It can be argued that the impacts of climate change on the livelihoods of cross-border traders are acute and have limited options for adaptation. Hence, policy interventions should be open to including nonagricultural dependent livelihoods.

Keywords: Vulnerability, climate change, cross-border trader, and livelihoods

Preface

I sincerely thank the Swedish Institute for their essential assistance during my master's programme at Lund University. The scholarship was crucial in enabling me to pursue my academic goals. This publication is part of my research work at Lund University, supported by the Swedish Institute for Global Professionals. I would also like to thank Crafoord Foundation for their financial support during my fieldwork.

I would also like to extend my sincere appreciation to my supervisor, Professor Max Koch, for his guidance and constructive feedback throughout my master's thesis. Many thanks to the Chairperson of Kazungula Cross-Border Association for his help and hospitality during my fieldwork. A big thank you to all my friends and family for your moral, social and spiritual support. Finally, I also thank God almighty for giving me strength in the most difficult times of life.

Table of contents

1.	INTR	ODUCTION	1
	1.1.	BACKGROUND OF THE STUDY	1
	1.2.	AIM AND SCOPE OF THE STUDY	3
	1.2.1.	SIGNIFICANCE OF THE STUDY	4
	1.3.	DESCRIPTION OF CONTEXT AND CLIMATIC CHARACTERISTICS	4
	1.3.1.	DESCRIPTION OF THE STUDY AREA	7
	1.4.	OUTLINE OF THE THESIS	. 10
2.	PRE\	/IOUS STUDIES	11
2	тне		15
5.			15
	3.1.	SUSTAINABLE LIVELIHOOD APPROACH (SLA)	. 16
	3.1.1.	LIVELIHOOD FRAMEWORK	. 16
	3.2.	How SLA and CA have informed previous studies	. 21
	3.2.1	. Sustainable Livelihoods Approach	. 21
	3.2.2	Capability approach	. 22
4.	MET	HODOLOGY	23
			22
	4.1. NES	τμε βαβαριζμα ανις μετμοροί ος νοε τμε στι ίρν	23
	4.1.1.	RESEARCH DESIGN	24
	4.3	SEI ECTION OF THE RESEARCH AREA	25
	4. <i>3</i> . <i>4 4</i>	SELECTION OF THE RESEARCH PARTICIPANTS AND SAMPLE SIZE	25
	ч. ч . 4 5	METHODS AND DATA SOURCES	20
	4.5.	DATA ANALVSIS	21
	4.0.	POSITIONALITY AND REFLEXIBILITY	31
	4.7.	PILOT STIDY	32
	4 9	ETHICAL CONSIDER ATIONS	32
	4.10.		.33
-			25
5.	EIVIP	IRICAL RESULTS	35
	5.1.	CHARACTERISTICS OF CROSS-BORDER TRADERS	. 35
	5.2.	KNOWLEDGE OF VULNERABILITY CONTEXT	. 36
	5.3.	IMPACT OF CLIMATE CHANGE ON LIVELIHOOD ASSETS	. 37
	5.3.1.	ACCESS TO PHYSICAL AND NATURAL CAPITAL	. 37
	5.3.2.	Access to Human Capital	. 39
	5.3.3.	ACCESS TO FINANCIAL CAPITAL	. 40
	5.3.4.	Access to Social Capital	. 42
	5.4.	EFFECTS OF ON LIVELIHOOD STRATEGIES	. 44
	5.5.	CLIMATE CHANGE AND TRADERS' CAPABILITY TO MEET BASIC NEEDS.	. 48
	5.6.	ADAPTATION CAPABILITIES CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES	. 50
6.	DISC	USSION	54
	6.1.	IMPACTS OF CLIMATE CHANGE ON CROSS-BORDER TRADERS KNOWLEDGE SYSTEM	. 54
	6.2.	TRADERS' ADAPTATION STRATEGIES	. 57
	6.3.	CAPABILITIES AND CHALLENGES IN ADAPTATION TO CLIMATE CHANGE	. 59
7.	CON	CLUSION	62

1. Introduction

This section provides a comprehensive introduction to the study. First, I will highlight the background of the study; second, I will present the context. Third, I will present the research aims and significance of the study. The section ends with the presentation of the structure of the thesis.

1.1. Background of the Study

Global Carbon dioxide emissions have continued to rise since 2002, from 3.83 metric tons per capita to 4.44 MtCO2e in 2019 (Climate Watch, 2020). The emissions stemmed from "burning fuels and manufacture of cement as well as consumption of gas fuels, solid, liquids and gas flaring" (World Bank, 2023). The key contributors to the emissions include industry, agriculture, forestry, transport and direct energy use in buildings (United Nations Environment Programme, 2022). **Figure 1** below shows CO2 emissions from 1990 to 2019.



The author designed **figure 1** based on the Climate Watch dataset.

However, cumulative distribution per capita differs among countries, with USA and EU being the major emitters of CO₂ with 25% and 17% respectively, in the period 1950 to 2019. While China and Russia contributed 13% and 7%, respectively.

Nonetheless, less developed countries contributed 0.5% of global (historical) CO2 emissions (UNEP, 2022).

Global emissions have resulted in climate variability, observed evidence includes; heat waves, floods, droughts and tropical cyclones (Mukherji *et al.*, 2023). These events have resulted in other global challenges, such as food shortages, wildfires and destruction of human habitation, leading displacements and global migrations (UNEP, 2022). For instance, Population and Development Review (2010) projected that climate change would lead to an increase in the number of migrants from North Africa to Europe by 2030.

Despite low per capita emissions, which are below the global average, developing countries are the most vulnerable to the effects of climate change (Mukherji *et al.*, 2023). Vulnerability to climate hazards is prevalent in countries with high poverty, conflicts, and climate-sensitive livelihoods (ibid). Southern Africa has, in recent years, experienced the worst forms of climate hazards, including cyclones such as Fred in 2023, Kennedy and Idai in 2019 in Mozambique (World Meteorological Organization, 2023; UNICEF, 2019). The cyclones led to hunger and the displacement of thousands of people from their homes. Such events undermine the efforts of the vulnerable population to escape the trap of poverty (UNDP, 2007).

In southern Africa, Zambia has been cited to be most vulnerable to climate hazards such as flash floods, seasonal floods, extreme temperatures, and droughts (World Bank, 2021). The majority of the rural population that depends on climate sensitive agriculture was noted to be the most vulnerable coupled with their low adaptive capacity (ibid). The increase in climate induced hazards has affected sectors of the national economy such as agriculture, mining, business activities, energy and health, which impedes Zambia's efforts towards the achievement of Vision 2030's goal of becoming a "prosperous middle-income country by 2030" (Ministry of National Development Planning, 2016). Further, Thurlow et al. (2008) claimed that Zambia lost a cumulative total of US\$4.3 billion of the GDP due to climate change for the period 2007 to 2016. Similarly, in the same period, the country experienced

a US\$2.2 billion GDP loss in agriculture(ibid).

Climate variability in Zambia has majorly been associated with agriculture; studies conducted in the country, such as (Nyanga *et al.*, 2011; Haque *et al.*, 2012; Zimba, 2016; Mulenga, Wineman and Sitko, 2017; Ngoma *et al.*, 2021) have all investigated how climate change affects farmers and their adaptive capacity. However, in areas like Kazungula with low precipitation, as indicated in (Thurlow et al., 2008), farmers have diversified their livelihoods by engaging in cross-border trading. Hence, little is known about how climate change affects cross-border traders and their adaptation strategies. Against this backdrop, this study investigates how climate change affects cross-border traders and their adaptative to the body of knowledge on the impacts of climate change on livelihoods by adding a perspective of rural cross-border traders of Kazungula district of Zambia.

1.2. Aim and scope of the study

This case study aimed to understand the impacts of climate change on the livelihoods of cross-border traders in Kazungula district of Zambia. The study is guided by the following research questions:

Research question: How do cross-border traders in Kazungula district narrate their experiences of climate change and its impacts on their livelihoods?

- I. How does climate change affect the livelihoods of cross-border traders in Kazungula district?
- II. What adaptation strategies do cross-border traders employ to cope with the impacts of climate change?
- III. What challenges or opportunities do cross-border traders encounter in adapting to climate change?

To answer my research questions, I used semi-structured interviews with eight cross-border traders, a focus group discussion with key informants, and I reviewed documents such as national policy on climate change, the 8th National Development Plan (8NDP) and other relevant documents. I will elaborate more on samples and justification in the methods section.

1.2.1. Significance of the study

This study contributes to the body of knowledge in several ways; Firstly, as pointed out earlier, previous studies on the impacts of climate change on livelihoods have concentrated on agriculture, ignoring other community members whose livelihoods do not directly depend on farming. Hence, the study will bring a new perspective on climate change focusing on cross-border trading. Further, this study could be used to inform future research on the topic.

Secondly, the information gathered through this study would help policy makers to design more inclusive climate adaptation policies that would encompass the needs of the farmers and non-agricultural livelihoods like informal cross-border traders. This would lead to the development of interventions that would be responsive to the needs of the community members.

Thirdly, the study contributes a new theoretical view on climate change that combines the capability approach and sustainable livelihoods approach to understand how traders are affected by climate change.

1.3. Description of Context and Climatic Characteristics

Zambia is a low-income country in Southern Africa. It is a landlocked nation with eight neighbours: Malawi, Angola, Zimbabwe, Mozambique, Tanzania, the Democratic Republic of the Congo, Botswana, and Namibia. Its area is 752,612 square kilometres. There were 19,610,769 people living in Zambia as of 2022, the majority of whom were based in Lusaka (Zambia Statistics Agency, 2022). Furthermore, Zambia has 10 provinces, with Lusaka serving as both the administrative and commercial hub (ibid).

Zambia's major economic activities include mining, energy agriculture, Tourism, and manufacturing industry. The country was in 2018 considered the World seventh largest producer of copper. The major mining exports include copper and cobalt which account for over 70% of the country's total exports earnings (Zambia Development Agency, 2023). Further manufacturing and agriculture account for 9

and 3.4 percent of the gross domestic product (GDP) respectively (World Bank Group, 2023).

Zambia enjoyed robust economic growth for the period 2000 to 2005, the economy grew at an average rate of about 5.8 percent per year and rose to a stable 6.8 percent for the period 2006 to 2015. This attainment of macroeconomic stability led to the reclassification of the country as the lower middle income country (Ministry of National Development Planning, 2017). Despite this stability, in recent years Zambia has undergone severe economic crises which led to a shrinkage GPD growth rate of 4.6% in 2021. The change is attributed to the spillover effects of the war in Ukraine, Covid19 and the copper prices which had continued to plummet on the international market (World Bank, 2023). This led to a huge decrease in Atlas Gross National Income per capita, leading to reclassification of the country to low income in 2021 from being a lower middle income country in the past years (Hamadeh *et al.*, 2022). See figure 2 (map of Zambia) for details regarding the ten (10) provinces as well as the Agro Ecological Zones of the country.

Climatic Characteristics

Zambia experiences a sub-tropical climate comprising three distinct seasons, which include, a wet rainy season (November to April), winter (May to August) and dry season which is around September to October (World Bank, 2021).

The country is divided into five ecological zones based on the amount of annual precipitation (Thurlow, Zhu and Diao, 2008). Zone one (1) is the driest area of the country with less than 800 mm of annual rainfall and it covers the southern part of the country while the northern part receives rainfall averaging to 1,400 mm per year (World Bank, 2021). The rainfall patterns in Zambia are influenced by the Inter-Tropical convergence Zone (ITCZ) and the El Niño/Southern Oscillation (ibid). The former oscillates between the north and south tropics around October and April bringing a rainy season in the country. Conversely, the latter causes inter-annual variations of weather conditions. It causes much drier than average conditions in December to February in the Southern region of the country while causing bringing

wetter conditions in the north region(World Band, 2021). The details of ecological zones and precipitation can be seen in **Figure 2**.



Figure 2 shows the provincial administrative provinces and ecological regions.

Impacts of climate change

Climate change in Zambia has mainly been experienced through extreme temperatures, droughts, seasonal floods and flash floods (World Bank, 2021). The incidences of floods and droughts have increased over the years. For example, the number of people affected by floods increased from 1.23 million in 2004-2005 to 1.44 million in the period 2006-2007, affecting about 41 districts in the country (ibid). The Southern province was reported to be most prone to these climate hazards. Recently, in the first quarter of 2023, the province experienced severe floods which affected over 25,768 households in five districts and displacing 1,394 families (Red Cross, 2023). Further, the flood prone areas have also experienced cases diseases such as cholera (UNICEF, 2023).

Further climate change was reported to have a negative effect on Zambia's economy. The country recorded an average loss of annual growth rate of 0.4 percent

for the period 1977 and 2007 (Thurlow, Zhu and Diao, 2008) and it is projected that, the loss may raise to 0.9 percent if the current climate induced challenges are not addressed. Further, the loss of water due to prolonged droughts resulted to a fall in hydro power generation of 600Megawatts(MNDP, 2017) and a total loss in agriculture GDP of US\$2.2 billion (Thurlow, Zhu and Diao, 2008). Climate variability has undermined the efforts of Zambia's government to help vulnerable communities to come out of their poverty situation. The majority of vulnerable population in rural areas depends on climate sensitive agriculture which is susceptible to climate shocks (CSO, 2016). The living conditions monitoring survey showed that 76.6 percent of the rural population were living in poverty as compared to 23.4 percent in the urban area (ibid).

Policy framework on climate change in Zambia

Zambia has in recent years developed several policies aimed at curbing the impacts of climate change on the livelihoods. The country has long term vision of enabling vulnerable groups to come out of the trap of poverty by 2030. All the current policies are guided by the goals of the Vision 2030 policy document. Key policies on climate change include the 2016 National Policy on Climate change (NPCC), 2007 National Policy on Environment (NPE) and the 2007 National Adaptation Programme of Action (GRZ, 2006; Ministry of National Development Planning, 2016; Ministry of National Development Planning, 2017; Siyuba, 2021).

However, the country also has certain policies and programmes that target specific sectors such as the National Agriculture Policy and the National forestry policy. Interventions are often done with the help of non-governmental organizations and other supporting partners such as foreign governments and multilateral institutions.

1.3.1. Description of the study area

The Southern province is the fourth largest province in Zambia after Lusaka, the Copperbelt and Eastern province. The province has 13 districts and a total population of 2,381,728 in 2022 (Zambia Statistics Agency, 2022). Kazungula district borders three countries: Botswana, Namibia, and Zimbabwe. It is a rural

district located 234.1 km from Livingstone, the nearest urban area, and occupies an area of 18,055.6 square kilometres. The 2022 census results indicate that the district had a population of 173,002 and population density of 9.6 (ibid).

Figure 3 below shows the location of Kazungula district in Southern province of Zambia.



Figure 3 Southern Province of Zambia showing the location of Kazungula district. Source: Designed by the author based on shapefiles

Kazungula area is in ecological zone one (1) which is historically known for being dry with higher incidences of drought than any other regions of the country. The area has high summer temperatures ranging from 22.5 to 26 degree Celsius while in winter months, temperatures range from 13.5°C to 16.5°C (Ambukege, 2019). The area receives low average annual rainfall of below 800 mm, and the soil is not good for agriculture, apart from those near the Zambezi River (ibid). Further, the area is projected to experience an increase in temperature of about "1°C and 3°C by 2060" (Swennenhuis and Mandima, 2012, p. 11). This will lead to more flooding and drought events in the area. The projected impacts of these extreme weather events will include shortage of food, increase in plant diseases, increased animal mortality, more water borne diseases, reduced fishing activities and reduced mobility due to destruction of roads and other infrastructure (ibid).

The key economic activities in the area include fishing, small scale agriculture, charcoal burning and hunting (Swennenhuis and Mandima, 2012, pp. 6–8). However, those that are close to the border have specialized in trading activities. It includes cross-border trading and managing small enterprises to meet the needs of the local communities and those of the households in the nearby countries. Climate change will have a negative effect on the livelihoods of people of Kazungula district, hence more research is required to find best ways of helping the people to come out the current and anticipated calamities.

1.3.2. Definition of concepts

The following key concepts guide the study:

Livelihoods

Refers to "adequate stock and flows of food and cash to meet basic needs" (Chambers and Conway, 1991, p.5). A livelihood further comprises capabilities, assets and activities required to make a living.

Cross-border trader

The term cross-border trade refers to the business activities of small-scale entrepreneurs involved in buying and selling from neighbouring countries (Zata, 2016). This study adopted the expanded definition by (Kachere, 2011), which included informal traders that travel to nearby countries to order items for resale to local markets (streets, retail stores and others) and those who order inputs for production. For example, weed killer and seeds targeting farmers. I further expand this view by considering those who supply local products to neighbouring countries.

Climate change

The study adopted the definition of climate change according to the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), which refers to a shift in the climate's state that can be determined (e.g., by statistical tests) by changes in the mean and/or variability of its attributes and that lasts for a considerable amount of time, usually decades or more (Ipcc, 2022, p. 554). The scope of this definition enabled the researcher to select participants who have been in the area for at least a

decade or more (who participated in the focus group discussion).

Vulnerability

The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (2022, p. 560) defined vulnerability as "the propensity or predisposition to be adversely affected." To put it into context, vulnerability can be seen as "the degree by which a system is susceptible to or is unable to cope with, adverse effects of climate change including climate variability and extremes" (McCarthy *et al.*, 2001, p. 6)

1.4. Outline of the thesis

This study is segmented into seven (7) chapters. Chapter one covers the Introduction and background, purpose of the study, research questions, significance of the study and culminates with description of the context. Chapter two (2) focuses on empirical review of the impacts of climate on livelihoods and adaptation strategies. In chapter three (3), I present the theoretical framework. Chapter Four (4) presents the methodology and methods used in the study. Research findings are presented in chapter five (5) while chapter six (6) presents the discussion. Finally, in Chapter seven (7) the conclusion of the study is made.

2. Previous studies

Climate change is one of the global challenges that significantly affects the various sectors of the economy, including agriculture, health, and others. IPCC (2022, p.554) defined climate change as "climatic variation that can be detected (for instance, using statistics) by changes in the mean or variability of its attributes over time, generally decades or more." These changes can occur due to natural occurrences or human environmental activities (ibid). The United Nations Development Programme (2008) pointed out that climate change has damaging impacts, especially on vulnerable groups whose livelihoods depend on natural resources.

Zambia is one of the countries experiencing the negative impacts of climate change, including erratic rainfall, floods, and prolonged dry spells, which adversely affect the livelihoods of communities, including small-scale traders. Livelihoods imply strategies for earning a living in a society. It involves funds, knowledge, property, food, interpersonal interaction, and interconnected relationship with a person's political, social, and cultural factors (Islam and Ryan, 2016).

Over the years, scholars have extensively investigated the impacts of climate change on livelihoods, and four themes can be generated. The studies in the first category have focused on the macro-level analysis of climate change and the country's economic development. In their research on the impacts of climate change on economic growth in Zambia, Thurlow et al. (2008) found that climate variability reduces Zambia's GDP by 0.4% annually. The study further established that agriculture was the most vulnerable sector, with a reduced GDP growth rate of 1 to 2% per year. However, the study focused on the macro-level analysis with little consideration of the views of the local communities. Further, as a single-country study, it is difficult to generalise the findings.

Nonetheless, Dube et al. (2016) bridged this gap by adding a cross-continental perspective on understanding the impacts of climate change. The study established that climate change affects crop yields and reduces biodiversity across the African continent. However, the study was based on the review of previous literature and

needed to present a transparent methodology which other scholars could replicate. Similarly, Matarira et al. (2013), in their study on the social and economic impacts of climate change in Lesotho, found that food crops were most vulnerable to climatic variability.

The studies on the second strand have focused on community perceptions of climate change. Rankoana (2018) investigated human perception of climate change in South Africa; the study established that community members were aware of climate change, which was mainly rainfall variability, cloud formation and changing seasons. The observations of the community were consistent with the meteorological records. Similarly, Mulenga et.al. (2017), in their study on trends of farmers' perceptions of climate change in Zambia, noted some points of convergence and the discrepancy between the farmers' perceptions and meteorological records. However, the study did not show the implications of this discrepancy to their research.

Further, studies in Bangladesh (Haque *et al.*, 2012a), Ethiopia (Belachew and Zuberi, 2015) and Zambia (Ngoma *et al.*, 2021) have asserted that farmers have knowledge about climate change and its effects on agriculture. Nevertheless, these studies have mainly focused on livelihoods that depend on agriculture, neglecting others like cross-border traders. However, Arku et al. (2017) strived to bridge this gap by integrating the perspective of small-scale traders. The study found that traders had knowledge about climate change; it was perceived as prolonged dry spells and unpredictable rainfall patterns. The study further established that traders were affected by climate change. However, it considered other variables, such as education, but only presented frequencies which may not be sufficient for justifying the influence of the variables on the traders' perceptions of climate change. Further, the study provided good insights into urban traders, leaving a gap on rural traders, especially those involved in cross-border trading. Despite the weakness, the study provides a framework on which this paper will be anchored.

The third category of studies have mainly focused on community adaptation to climate change. A study on determinants of farmers adaptation strategies found that agriculture labour force, gender and level of education of the household head, farming experience and the availability of extension services had a significant influence on the adaptation process of the small holder farmers (Othniel and Resurreccion, 2013). These factors were also important in livelihood diversification (Kalantary, 2010). However, this quantitative study did not allow farmers to express their views or experiences on the topic. Similarly, Ishumael and Godwell (2015) claimed that agriculture dependent livelihoods in Zimbabwe had a low capacity to adapt to the impact of climate change. The study argued that low adaptability has resulted in food insecurity, malnutrition, livestock failures and poverty. Further, Kalantary (2010) claimed that depending on the dimension of climate change affecting their locations, farmers in Zambia have different adaptation strategies, such as crop and income diversification. For example, fishing, honey production and others. However, the adaption process was noted to have been affected by lack of financial or credit facilities, lack of insurance for crops and limited capacity of the structures that support the adaptation process (Swennenhuis and Mandima, 2012). Other factors noted in the literature include: "technological limits", "information barriers", "physical and ecological limits" (IPCC, 2007, p.733-734).

The last strand of studies has shed light on trade and climate change. However, there has been a paucity of literature regarding small scale trade and climate change. Nevertheless, a report by World Trade Organization (2022) has shown that climate change has adverse effects on trade; the rising temperatures and floods may lead to the destruction of road infrastructure, making it difficult for traders to import and export their products. However, I argue that the impacts would be more severe, especially on informal traders who usually travel to neighbouring countries for several days to purchase or sell their merchandise. A study conducted in Kazungula district showed that climate change (floods) had a negative impact on social economic livelihoods of people of Kazungula district (Mwape, 2009). Similarly, a study in Ghana established that small-scale traders are prone to the effects of climate change and have limited options for adaption than farmers (Arku, Angmor and Adjei, 2017).

Finally, this study builds upon the existing literature on the impacts of climate change on livelihoods. Most of the studies on this topic have majorly focused on climate change and agriculture (Macedo and Healy, 2010; H. Matarira *et al.*, 2013; Dube *et al.*, 2016; Ngoma *et al.*, 2021), comparing meteorological records and community perceptions (Haque *et al.*, 2012; Arku, Angmor and Adjei, 2017; Mulenga, Wineman and Sitko, 2017), and adaption (Kalantary, 2010; Moser and Ekstrom, 2010; Othniel Yila and Resurreccion, 2013; Adger, Lorenzoni and O'Brien, 2007). These studies have primarily examined agricultural dependent livelihoods and have shown how climate change affects farming communities and their adaptation strategies. However, relatively less literature has explored the impacts of climate change on non-agricultural dependent livelihoods such as crossborder traders. Hence, little is known about their experience of climate change and how it impacts their livelihoods. Hence, I fill the gap in the literature by bringing rural cross-borders perspective on climate change.

3. Theoretical Framework

People's livelihoods are being impacted by climate change, especially those in vulnerable populations like cross-border traders. These traders deal with various difficulties such as unstable markets, unfavourable government policies, and shifting weather patterns that can greatly impact their ability to make a living. It is crucial to apply analytical approaches that consider the intricacy and interrelation of these difficulties to comprehend their effects and how traders can adapt. In this study, I examined the effects of climate change on the livelihoods of cross-border traders using two complementary frameworks: the Capability Approach (CA) and the Sustainable Livelihoods Approach (SLA). The capability approach strongly emphasises people's autonomy and chance to produce worthwhile results. This approach provided a framework for understanding how climate change affects the capability of traders to access important resources for the attainment of a decent livelihood. The SLA focuses on access to available assets, including financial, social, physical, and human capital. The approach deals with primary drivers of vulnerability, such as access to resources, shocks, and weak institutions, to enhance resilience to impacts of climate change.

The SLA is important in this study for the following reasons. First, it helped me to identify the means of living of the cross-border traders in the catchment districts. Second, SLA is "normatively based" (Lienert and Burger, 2015) on "equity, capability and sustainability" (Chambers and Conway, 1991). Further it accounts for the differences in the study participants, such as gender, age, class, social group, ethnicity, and others. This allowed me to get information from multiple sources and consider the differences between the groups.

The second theory (CA) considers people to be "active agents" in the process of change that affects their livelihoods (Lienert and Burger, 2015). This enabled me to understand the capability of cross-border traders to adapt to the impact of climate change. Merging the two theories allowed me to obtain detailed insights into the impacts of climate change on livelihoods. The CA enabled me to assess issues such

as power relations within the groups or community, which the SLA neglects. However, the SLA provides a framework for livelihood analysis, including the "instrumental factors left open by the SLA" (Lienert and Burger, 2015). This will provide new insights that neither theory would show if used independently.

I will thoroughly examine the effects of climate change on cross-border traders using these two frameworks together and pinpoint the adaptation strategies. The frameworks will help me to investigate how cross-border traders' capabilities and subsistence methods are impacted by climate change, and I will identify the resources and aptitudes essential for enhancing resilience in the face of a changing environment.

3.1. Sustainable Livelihood Approach (SLA)

A livelihood consists of the capacities, assets and activities needed to support a way of life. A livelihood is sustainable if it can withstand shocks and stress, recover from them, maintain, or improve its capacities, and support the next generation's means of subsistence (Chambers and Conway, 1991).

Livelihoods comprise three components. First, assets which are tangible and intangible resources available to the community for their well-being. The tangible assets are categorised as stores (savings, credit schemes, food stocks) and resources (water, land, trees). These assets are under the command of the household. Intangible assets include claims and access. Claims are demands or requests for support in the form of food, loans, and others, often in times of shock. This could be obtained from relatives, the government, private organisations, and others. Access involves the use of resources and services such as information, health, transport, and others (Chambers and Conway, 1991, pp. 5–8). These concepts will help the researcher understand the components of traders' livelihoods and aspects vulnerable to climate change.

3.1.1. Livelihood Framework

A livelihood framework is a tool for understanding the livelihoods of vulnerable people. This approach has been used in development interventions in developing countries. It is a people-centred framework which gives clear guidance on issues researchers could look for in the livelihoods analysis. The framework has five elements which include vulnerability context, livelihood assets, transformation structures and processes, strategies, and livelihood outcomes (Department for International Development, 1999).

First, vulnerability context; these are factors in the individual's environment that affect their ability to achieve what they need (DFID, 1999). For example, climate change can limit the ability of the vulnerable groups to meet their basic needs due to the disruption of community economic activities because of shocks such as floods, droughts, earthquakes, and others.

The second aspect of this framework is livelihood assets. The focus is to understand the various assets and endowments people use to attain positive livelihood outcomes. The framework identified five assets or forms of community capital, which include social, physical, natural, financial, and human capital (DFID, 1999). For people to seek various forms of livelihood and meet their livelihood goals, they need to have the skills, knowledge, labour-force capacity, and physical and mental health that are collectively represented by human capital (ibid).

Social capital refers to the networks, social claims, social relationships, affiliations, and connections people use to their advantage when seeking various livelihood choices that call for collective efforts (Scoones, 1998). This gives the individuals an opportunity to have a say on issues that affect their livelihoods. Natural capital refers to natural resource stocks (DFID, 1999) and environmental services (Scoones, 1998), which are a source of resources for services needed for livelihoods. The effects of climate change on natural capital include reduced agricultural productivity, water insecurity, flooding, extreme weather events, collapsed ecosystem and health risk (UNDP, 2007, pp. 27–30).

Economic or financial capital refers to the resources that people employ to accomplish their livelihood goals (DFID, 1999). They include services such as cash and economic assets, including basic infrastructure necessary to achieve various

livelihood options (Scoones, 1998). However, DFID (1999) separated basic infrastructure from financial capital and referred to it as physical capital. It includes access to information, roads, markets, decent shelter, and affordable transportation.

The third element of the livelihoods approach is transforming structures and processes. These are the legislations, policies and institutions which determine access or control of capital (ibid). In rural communities, there are institutions such as NGOs and public agencies that strive to help vulnerable groups to cope with climate shocks. The analysis of such institutions allows one to explore the barriers and opportunities for sustainable livelihoods (Scoones, 1998). Fourth, the framework also emphasises analysis of the livelihood strategies employed by individuals to meet their livelihood goals (DFID, 1999). For example, investing in trading activities, farming, and others. **Figure 4** below shows the livelihood framework.



Figure 4 Livelihood Framework- adapted in DIFID 1999

Despite the clear analytical structure, the Sustainable Livelihood Framework does not account for power and politics with regards to livelihoods and governance (Scoones, 2009). This gap could lead to the omission of important aspects of community assessments. To avoid this problem, this study integrates CA which considers power relations. Lienert and Burger (2015) further noticed that SLA ignores the "dynamics of changes related to capitals, institutions, policies and processes".

3.2. Capability Approach

The capability approach is a theoretical framework for "assessing and evaluating individual well-being, policies, social arrangements and development proposals" (Robeyns, 2005, p. 2). The theory has two major claims: first, achievement of well-being is of moral importance, and second, well-being should be understood in terms of capabilities and functionings (Robeyns and Byskov, 2021). Functionings are considered "beings and doings" (Kronlid, 2014, p. 32). For example, the ability to have nutritious meals, travel, vote, and others.

The capability approach also assesses people's freedoms to attain their potential doings and beings (Robeyns and Byskov, 2021). Having freedom implies the availability of the means to achieve one's wishes or doings (ibid). When analysing well-being, it is crucial to assess people's resources and what they can do or be with available resources (ibid). The theory emphasises the ability of people to achieve their desires and not just the freedom to access available opportunities. Robeyns and Byskov (2021) argue that an individual's capability to attain certain doings depends on conversion factors. This refers to the "degree to which a person can transform a resource into functioning" (ibid). This concept enables researchers to understand the level of functioning one can get from given resources. For example, this could be the extent to which traders increase their sales given the availability of trading spaces.

Robeyns (2005, p. 99) identified three types of conversion factors that influence the achievement of certain doings. First, "personal factors" such as gender, intelligence and skills determine one's ability to convert a "commodity into functioning" (ibid). For example, traders living with disabilities may not have the ability to cross to neighbouring countries for trading purposes. Second, "social conventional factors" which include power relations, gender roles and others. Third, "environmental conversion factors" such as climate, roads, and geographical location influences how one converts a good into functioning (ibid). For example, floods disrupt the ability of traders to access trading facilities.

Figure 5 shows the various factors that affect the achievement of functionings. These includes social context, means, individual conversion factors, social influence, capability set and choice.



Figure 5 adapted from Robeyns (2005.p,98)

However, the CA (Robeyns theory) was criticised for having unclear categorization of the infrastructure facilities. It is unclear whether they are convention factors, goods/commodities, or social context. The theory does not give a clear analytical guidance in this regard (Lienert and Burger, 2015). Further, the theory treats environmental resources as conversion factors, however, resources such as water, land and others are important inputs for community livelihoods especially in rural communities. In the end, Lienert and Burger (2015) further pointed out that, the CA ignores "aggregated effects of activities and their feedback loops on social and natural enabling factors for capacities". For instance, use of natural resources such as forests would have negative effects on the environment including floods and droughts.

Finally, climate change has a significant impact on well-being and adaptation of vulnerable groups. It affects the social, economic, and other aspects of life which have an effect on the ability of individuals to meet basic needs. Using Robeyns five criteria, Kronlid (2014) claimed that the effects of climate change could be analysed

by looking at mobility, health, knowledge system, working and playing. This theory will provide a clear framework for analysing the effects of climate change on livelihoods. However, only aspects that are relevant to the study will be used.

3.2. How SLA and CA have informed previous studies

Most academics throughout the world have turned their attention to climate change in the recent past. The complexity of this phenomenon has prompted scholars to employ a range of ideas and methods to comprehend how it affects communities and livelihoods. I looked at how both theories have been operationalised in prior studies to obtain insight into the many theoretical claims of both approaches. Some scholars have used the SLA, while others have gone with the CA.

3.2.1. Sustainable Livelihoods Approach

In order to gain a comprehensive understanding of the local adaption strategies of farmers in Ghana, Arku (2013) applied the SLA and strength-based approach. He argued that SLA provides a platform for exploring poor people's adaptation strategies and their social "economic reality". Using the capability approach, he argued that individual capacities determined the farmers' adaptation strategies. The theory informed the study in terms of gender and adaptation capability, factors influencing the perceptions and general copying strategies of the farmers.

Similarly, a study in Iran investigated livelihood vulnerability to drought in rural areas (Keshavarz, Maleksaeidi and Karami, 2017). They used the modified approach, which integrated the SLA with the ecosystems management framework and other theories. SLA was operationalised by creating the composite index, which included all the livelihood assets. The study found that people mostly adapted through farming, management, income diversification and through support from families and friends. Even though this was a purely quantitative study, it shows how the SLA could be used to investigate community vulnerability to climate change. Similarly, Narayan et al. (1999) assessed the capital assets of the poor people using the SLA. The study includes all the five livelihood capital resources as highlighted in DFID (1999). Further, Hammill et al. (2005) showed that resilience to climate

change could be determined by "early warning and technical expertise (human and physical capital), infrastructure stability (physical assets) and access to savings and alternative plans (financial and social capital)".

3.2.2. Capability approach

The SLA focuses on what kind of resources (assets) are at the disposal of the community and whether they are being accessed or not. However, proponents of the capability approach are more interested in the ability of people to use those resources to improve their livelihoods (Robeyns, 2005). Hence, capability is about "real freedom" that people have for a decent life (Robeyns and Byskov, 2020). It implies the availability of resources and freedom to choose a course of action to achieve their desired livelihoods. Nussbaum (2011, pp. 33–34) identified ten "central capabilities" for human life: life, health, bodily integrity, senses, emotions, practical reason, affiliation, other species, play and control over one's environment. A study in Nepal assessed the use of biological resources to improve the well-being of people (Lienert and Burger, 2015). It used a model which combined both SLA and CA. The results showed that bodily integrity, other species, and affiliation were related to their valuation of biological resources. These concepts helped in identifying key points for assessing the impacts of climate change on the livelihoods of cross-border traders.

4. Methodology

This section focuses on the methodological approach of the study. It begins with the presentation of the philosophical assumptions that guide the choice of the methods used in the study and research design. It further highlights the study area, methods, sampling, and procedures for data collection and analysis. The section ends with a presentation on the ethical consideration and limitations of the study.

4.1. Research Paradigm

The research paradigm is made of various components of the research process which includes "ontology, epistemology, methodology and methods" (Scotland, 2012, p. 9). Ontology refers to the "nature of reality" (Hudson and Ozanne, 1988, p. 509). The focus is on what "constitute reality" (Scotland, 2012, p. 9) or "nature of its existence" (Alharahsheh and Pius, 2020, p. 40). Epistemology is concerned with the process of generating, acquiring, and disseminating knowledge (Scotland, 2012). In other words, it is concerned with how the researcher intents to obtain the knowledge to reach reality (Alharahsheh and Pius, 2020). Scotland (2012) noted that each paradigm has different ontological and epistemological orientation that determines the type of approach a researcher may take. Key among these are the positivists and interpretivist world views.

The positivists have a realist bent and tends to hold that there is a "single, objective reality" distinct from people's perceptions (Hudson and Ozanne, 1988, p. 509). Hence, positivists methodology focuses on the relationships between variables to explore factors that influence an outcome. The aim is to infer laws that can be applied to the general population (Hudson and Ozanne, 1988; Alharahsheh and Pius, 2020). However, Scientific generalisations could result in a failure to consider or fully comprehend the motivations behind people's behaviours or actions (Alharahsheh and Pius, 2020). In the current study, I am interested in exploring detailed responses from the people experiencing the impacts of climate change. Hence, focusing on numerical variables, I may miss the unique experiences of the traders. The interpretivists consider the subjective nature of social reality and the

uniqueness of the individual experiences. Further, this reality is perceived to be socially constructed, leading to multiple instead of a single reality as proposed by the positivists. Hence, Hudson and Ozanne (1988) claimed that, human behaviours are context specific and realities are constructed based on the contexts.

The advantages of this view include but are not limited to the following. First, it allows for the collection of in-depth experiences through the use of qualitative methods which involves the interaction with the research participants. Second, it brings a new perspective to the body of research by integrating the knowledge of the respondents. Third it provides insights into the behaviour and actions of the participants based on their own local perspectives (Scotland, 2012; Alharahsheh and Pius, 2020, pp. 41–42). However, the interpretivist is often criticized for lack of validity, transferability, and generalization due to multiple realities of social context. Further, researcher's interaction with respondents may compromise autonomy and privacy of the participants (Howe and Moses, 1999; Scotland, 2012). Additionally, analysis and interpretation of the respondents' views are under the control of the researcher. Hence, the limited control of the participants over their data leads to the researchers' imposition of their subjective interpretation of the information (Scotland, 2012. p13). Danby and Farrell (2004, p. 41) assert that the researcher's interpretation of data is a "theorised account that represent our understandings of the social worlds" of the respondents.

4.1.1. The paradigm and methodology of the study

This study is influenced by the interpretivist and social constructionist world views (Schwandt, 1994). I adopted this stance because I am interested in the meanings or interpretations of community members of climate change and its effects on their livelihoods. The social reality or "situation specific meanings that constitute the general objective of investigation is thought to be constructed by social actors" (ibid, p. 221). Hence, climate change being a social phenomena, it is cardinal to get an understanding of its impacts from those who experience it (Schwandt, 1994; Creswell and Creswell, 2018). Hence, this philosophical stance allows for researchers to interact with the research participants in their localities to obtain their

views or knowledge about specific social phenomena (Creswell and Poth, 2018). This direct interaction with participants allows for the adoption and application the qualitative approach and methods of collecting and analysing the experiences. The advantage of this approach is that it allows the researcher to obtain data from multiple sources such as interviews, documents, and observations (ibid).

4.2. Research Design

This study adopted a single case study design to understand how rural small scale traders perceive the impacts of climate change on their livelihoods focusing on real life experience of cross boarder traders in Kazungula (Yin, Bateman and Moore, 1983; Yin, 2003). By focusing on a single case, the study provides a comprehensive understanding of the experiences of the traders on climate change. The advantage of this strategy over others is that it allows for the collection of in-depth information from various sources such as interviews, reports and observations (Creswell and Poth, 2018).

Hence, Yin (2003) asserts that conclusions from studies that use multiple sources of information are more accurate and convincing. Further, a study on case study methods revealed that studies that used multiple sources had a better overall quality score than those which did not (Yin, Bateman and Moore, 1983).

4.3. Selection of the research area

Zambia has several border areas due to its location as a landlocked country. Examples include: Kasumbalesa (border with DRC), Chipata (Malawi), Nakonde (Tanzania), Livingstone (Zimbabwe) (UNHCR, 2016). The study site (Kazungula district) was selected for three reasons: first, due to its high level of vulnerability to climate change and lower ability of the vulnerable communities to cope with challenges (Ambukege, 2019). Second, as earlier mentioned, Kazungula is a unique boarder area in that it separates four countries which include Zambia, Zimbabwe, Namibia, and Botswana. As such, due to the nature of the area, cross border trading is a main livelihood option in the area. Hence, it was purposefully sampled due to the availability of the target population (cross border traders).

Figure 6 below shows the location of the Kazungula border area, which was the site of the study.



Figure 6 Kazungula border- Designed by the author using shape files.

At the beginning of the study, I mapped areas mostly affected by climate change in the district and narrowed it down to the areas close to the border where traders were mostly found. Third, I settled for Kazungula boarder area because of the willingness of the administration and community structures for the study to be conducted in the district.

4.4. Selection of research participants and Sample Size

The study used purposive and snowball sampling techniques to select 16 traders for the study. First, I used purpose sampling to select 8 respondents for the focus group discussion. The advantage of this sampling strategy is that it enabled the researcher to select participants who could provide the required information for the research (Farrugia, 2019). The respondents for the FGD were executive members of CBTA and only included those who have stayed in the community for a decade or more and have been doing cross-border trading work for two years and more.

Further 8 respondents were selected for the individual interviews. With the help of a key informant, I used purpose sampling to choose the first respondent then used snowball technique to get to other respondents. The study worked with traders who were involved in some form of cross border trading (buy or sale of products from one country to another). I focused on those that purchased things (such as beans, maize, and vegetables) from the farmers to sale to neighbouring countries and those that sale manufactured products such as beadings, electronics, clothes, and others across any of the three countries (Zimbabwe, Namibia, and Botswana). However, due to unexpected challenges (see limitations) it was not easy to have an equal number of participants in terms of gender or kind of products sold, hence, I decided to be flexible in the selection of participants based on their availability.

4.5. Methods and Data Sources

The study used both primary and secondary data to gain detailed insights on impacts of climate change on the traders' livelihoods. Primary data were collected using interviews (Mason, 2002), focus group discussions and observations (Billups, 2021). Interviews allow for the collection of holistic and integrated view of the research issue from the perspective of the research participants (ibid) and provide more in-depth information than other methods (Mason, 2002). The secondary data were obtained using document review (Yildiz, 2020).

Interviews

Semi-structured interviews were used in order to have one-to-one interaction with the participants (Mason, 2002). This allowed me to interview the participants in their work localities and trading areas. The interviews were relatively informal and centred around four thematic topics, which included a) vulnerability context; b) effects of climate change on livelihood assets; c) adaptation and capabilities; d) barriers and opportunities. The second theme was categorised into sub-themes, such as effects on trading activities, mobility, meeting basic needs and others. The flexibility of the interview process allowed me to gain detailed information by asking follow-up questions which allowed me to identify new themes from the participants' perspectives.

Table 1 shows the biographical details of the respondents. It contains the code of the participants which were used in this study, their personal and characteristics of their business activities.

ID	Gender	Years spend	Age-	Level of	Duration in small	Products they supply	Occupati	Source of
		in	Range	Education	cross-border		on	products
		Kazungula			trading			
IT1	F	30	25-30	Primary	9 years	Groundnuts, charcoal, mats,	Full time	Zambia & Botswana
						flour, and clothes.	Trader	
IT2	м	10	45-50	Primary	6 years	Building materials and	Full time	Botswana
						household goods	Trader	
IT3	F	25	40-45	Primary	5 years	Beddings, cosmetics and salon	Trader	Botswana &
								Namibia, South
								Africa
IT4	F	19	25-30	No formal	14 years	Shoes, beddings	Full time	Zambia & Botswana
				education			trader	
IT5	F	35	30-40	Primary	10 years	Hair, blankets, duvets and	Fulltime	Botswana
						clothes	trader	
IT6	F	40	45-50	Primary	9 years	Secondhand clothes,	Fulltime	Zambia
						Groundnuts and Charcoal	trader	
IT7	F	6	20-25	No formal	6 years	Shoes and clothes	Fulltime	Zambia & Botswana
				education			trader	
IT8	F	8	50-55	Secondary	5 years	Drinks, salt, detergents,	Full trader	Zimbabwe, Zambia &
						mayonnaise, and peanut butter.		Botswana

Table 1 Characteristics	of the respondents	(individual interviews)
-------------------------	--------------------	-------------------------

The names of participants were anonymised, however, recording of the interview proceedings were not allowed by some of the participants (details in the challenges section). Even though I tried to use "powerful committee members" (Cross-Border Association leaders) as suggested in (Mason, 2002, p. 81), some respondents did not consent to be recorded, hence, I took detailed notes of the interviews. This challenge was also highlighted by Yildiz (2020) who claimed that individuals do not like to be recorded, hence even obtaining consent for recording, may prevent participants from giving their real opinion on the subject under investigation. Hence, note-taking enabled the respondents to feel at ease, safe and confided in me (ibid). The interviews lasted for a duration of 46 to 60 minutes.

Further, while interviewing the participants, I paid attention (observation) on some examples of products that participants claimed to have been affected because of climate change. Further, the field work was done during the rainy season, I observed the incidences of rainfall and temperatures which I related with the experiences of the respondents. "Observation evidence provides additional details to the topic under investigation" (Yin, 2003, p. 94).

Document review

I reviewed various documents that were in line with climate change in Zambia. There is limited literature in Zambia with regard to climate change and cross-border trading. Hence, this study relied much on documents such as the IPCC report, Eighth National Development Plan (8NDP), and National Policy on Climate Change (NPCC). The documents were reviewed with the intention of collecting "independently verifiable data" (World Bank Evaluation Group, 2007, p. 1) relevant to my topic and context. The method is cheaper and uses authentic and verifiable information from reliable sources (ibid). Further, I used the steps in document review as suggested by (Yildiz and Meydan, 2020), which include accessing, checking authenticity, comprehending and analysing the documents. The use of the documents can enhance the validity and reliability of qualitative research (Yildiz and Simsek 2018, cited in Yildiz and Meydan, 2020).

Table 2 shows the names and type of documents reviewed in this study.

Name of Document	Type of document
National Policy on Climate Change (NPCC)	Policy
8 th National Development Plan (8NDP)	Policy
Monitoring Small Scale Cross Border Trade in Africa Issues	Report (World Bank)
Approaches and Lessons.	
Minimum Standards for the Treatment of Small-Scale Traders	Policy

Table 2 List of documents reviewed.

Since the study was done under a difficult circumstance, I chose to use documents to add more facts to the data obtained from research participants. Verifiable information from these credible sources will authenticate the data from our research.

Focus group discussion

I used a focus group discussion with 8 participants who were leaders of CBTA in Kazungula district. The aim was to get a general overview of the impacts of climate change on cross-border traders in the area. The participants were purposefully selected based on commonality and experience in cross-border trading (Billups, 2021) and duration of stay in the area (a decade or more). The shared experiences of participants enable researchers to gain more insights about the topic, which would otherwise not be collected using alternative methods (ibid). Despite this strength, scholars have warned that proceedings of FGDs may be hijacked by dominant or disruptive personalities (Morgan, 1993; Barbour, 2007; Billups, 2021). Being cognizant of power relations among the group members, which could be due to different leadership roles, levels of education and others, I created an ambient atmosphere for everyone to participate in the discussion. Flick (2009) asserts that FGD's moderator should facilitate and guide the discussion in order for the information to be within the theme of the research topic. The FGD's respondents ranged from 25 to 60 years, and they comprised full-time traders and those combining trade and formal employment. They were all members of the CBTA executive. Table 3 shows the details of the respondents. I deliberately excluded their positions in the group to protect their identities.

ID	Gender	Years spend in	Age-Range	Level of	Duration in small cross-	Products they supply	Occupation	Source of products
		Kazungula		Education	border trading			
RP1	F	30	40- 45	Secondary	7	Salon, beddings	Trader –full time	Botswana & South
						&cosmetics		Africa
RP2	F	45	45- 50	Primary	10	Foodstuff	Trader – Full time	Botswana
RP3	М	25	45-50	Primary	8	Groceries	Trader	Botswana &
								Namibia
RP4	М	50	55-60	Tertiary	15	Duvets and foodstuff	Teacher/Trader	Zambia & Botswana
RP5	М	15	25-30	Secondary	4	Groundnuts, sweet potatoes,	Trader – full time	Zambia, Botswana
						Salt, and electronics		
RP6	М	27	25-30	Secondary	10	Salt con and potatoes	Trader – full time	Botswana and
								Namibia
RP7	F	18	30- 25	Tertiary	6	Glossaries and clothing	Teacher/Trader	Botswana
RP8	Μ	35	40-45	Secondary	10	Corn, sugar beans	Trader	Zambia to Botswana

Table 3 Details of FDG respondents

4.6. Data Analysis

The interviews were conducted in local languages (Nyanja and Lozi) which I then transcribed in English with the help of the local experts. I used verbatim transcription for all my recorded interviews to capture every utterance from the respondents to present accurate information of the conversation (Lester, Cho and Lochmiller, 2020). The process of transcribing the data took 4-5 hours and helped me to get familiar with the information. However, the field notes from interviews not recorded were presented as memos in the same format (Yildiz, 2020). Memos enabled me to identify statements that were important for analysis (Lester, Cho and Lochmiller, 2020).

I divide the analysis in two parts. First, I analysed the data from the interviews using NVivo Qualitative Data Analysis Software (QDAS). The use of computer aided analysis helped in improving the efficiency and effectiveness of learning from the data (Bazeley and Jackson, 2013). The data were coded based on the five themes of the study as earlier pointed out; however, new nodes were generated due to information that emanated from the interviews (Bazeley and Jackson, 2013). Further, I counter checked all the nodes to ensure that they were recorded correctly.

In addition, I made the analytical process transparent by reporting the frequencies of the codes that were used to generate themes of the study (Lester, Cho and Lochmiller, 2020). The second part of the analysis focused on the reviewing the documents, I conducted a descriptive analysis of the policies and reports which were determined for the study as it is the appropriate way of unveiling the content of the documents (Yildiz and Simsek 2018).

4.7. Positionality and Reflexibility

I have stayed in Zambia for 28 years; I am aware of community members' culture, context, and values and how this familiarity would influence my interpretation of themes (Creswell, 2018). I previously worked for an International nongovernmental organisation on a project which was aimed at enabling farmers to adapt to the impacts of climate change in Kazungula district. As such, I understand government

and local agencies in the catchment area that may be relevant to my study. However, I need to become more familiar with adaptation interventions or whether crossborder traders are affected by climate change. This motivated my research topic, for I wanted to bring new knowledge that could lead to the development of policies that may favour such groups.

4.8. Pilot Study

Prior to my study, I started with two pilot interviews for three reasons. First, to identify challenges that participants could have regarding the interpretation of the interview questions and adjust the phrasing to suit the context. Second, I wanted to assess how easy or difficult it would be to access the traders. Third I wanted to identify certain barriers to the study which could be cultural, time related and others as suggested by (Janghorban, Latifnejad and Taghipour, 2014). After piloting the study, I adjusted the technical terms and used context examples when asking questions.

4.9. Ethical Considerations

To perform the study respectfully, equitably, and responsibly towards all persons involved, I considered ethical issues a crucial component of my research. I inquired about my topic prior to my fieldwork to understand whether or not it may be considered sensitive by the participants. However, the topic was not considered as such in the area, but I remained open to possible developments. At the beginning of the study, I obtained permission from the local municipality and local traders association. Further, during the individual interviews, I explained the purpose of the study and sought consent from the participants (Israel, 2015). Informed consent is essential for respecting the autonomy and dignity of participants and ensuring that they are not coerced into participating (Mays, Pope and Popay, 2005).

Surprisingly, I requested participants to sign a written consent, but some preferred verbal consent. Patton and Cochran (2002) assert that in some cases, participants may feel frightened to give written consent, but it is essential to obtain verbal consent in such cases. Further, I assured participants of confidentiality and
protection from harm (Israel, 2015). In addition, I protected the identity of the participants by assigning pseudonyms and assuring them that personal information would be treated with confidentiality (Birt *et al.*, 2016).

4.10. Limitations

Difficult to access participants: It was a challenge to find most of the respondents as the majority had crossed over to the neighbouring countries for their trading activities. This affected the duration of my work as I had to wait for them to return to the Zambian side. Alternative approaches, such as contacting them on mobile phones could not work because they were out of the coverage area of the Zambian mobile networks. However, with the help of the key informants and other traders, I was able to locate participants for the study.

Recording and signed consent: Some participants preferred verbal consent to written ones and declined to be recorded. Even though I tried to give more information about the nature and purpose of the study, they did not welcome recording and written consent as they claimed that it was risky to be recorded or sign on the document (it would expose their identity). In such cases, I took notes of the conversation.

The threat of cyclone: During the field period, there was a national warning of a cyclone, and the study location was one of the hotspots. In the middle of the study, the cyclone had already affected neighbouring countries like Mozambique and Malawi. This brought feelings of uncertainty during the research period. However, I was on high alert and kept checking on daily weather updates and information from the authorities. Further, the community members were supportive to allow me to collect the information before the situation could get worse.

The expectation of payment for participating: The research participants expected payment for participating in the study. However, after explaining the purpose of the study, some participants agreed to be interviewed. While those that did not accept, I did not force them to participate. Further, after consulting with community members, I learned that some civil society organisations and government

departments usually give an allowance to participants for their workshops and research work.

Impacts of Covid19: It was also noted during the interviews that respondents' challenges were worsened by covid19 pandemic, which had restricted their movements to neighbouring countries. This would influence how respondents perceived the effects of climate change, that is, failing to isolate the impact of climate change from those of covid. Hence this was averted by first recruiting participants with at least four years of trading experience, and second, I advised respondents to focus on climate change. Third I probed much about their experience before the pandemic.

Methodological challenge: I collected data from multiple sources for triangulation purposes. However, this was time-consuming and at times, it was a challenge to bring the results together. It raised questions like what data source matters, verifiable information from documents, individual interviews, or FGDs, which has many people. To overcome this, I analysed the data differently and merged the results based on the similarities of themes generated (Carter *et al.*, 2014).

5. Empirical Results

This chapter presents the findings of the study. The results will be presented in line with the two theories discussed in the theoretical framework (SLA and CA). The data will be presented in three themes. Theme one (1) focuses on the vulnerability context (natural shocks) and how traders perceive climate change. Theme two (2) deals with the effects of climate change on the livelihood assets (physical, social, financial, natural, and human capital) of cross-border traders. Themes one and two aim to provide answers to the first research question (How does climate change affect the livelihoods of cross-border traders?). Theme three (3) focuses on livelihood strategies, capabilities, and adaptation to climate change. The third theme answers questions two and three. However, I will begin by giving a detailed description of the respondents to understand or identify possible factors influencing traders' perceptions and adaptability.

5.1. Characteristics of cross-border traders

This study found that cross-border traders in Kazungula were in two categories. The first category was involved in selling unprocessed and processed agricultural produce from Zambia to Botswana and comprised women with low capital. A study in Ghana also established that women were primarily engaged in selling unprocessed and processed food (Arku, Angmor and Adjei, 2017). Purchasing foodstuff from the farmers is cheaper and does not require higher capital. The women continue this kind of trade due to lacking the capability to meet basic needs (Kachere, 2011; Zata, 2016). Further, Zambia Statistics Agency (2022) found that for the period 2019-2021, the majority of cross-traders in Chirundu were females 79.3 percent while other borders like Nakonde, Kasumbalesa and Mwami had more male traders crossing the border.

The second category of traders involved people with small enterprises who mostly sold manufactured goods from Botswana, Namibia, South Africa, and Zimbabwe. Most of the participants had completed primary to lower secondary education. While a few had completed tertiary education, and others were in formal employment (cross-border was part-time work). This resonates with the findings from the studies conducted in Zimbabwe (Chani, 2008) and Namibia (Zata, 2016), which established that some cross-border traders are in formal employment and trade is a way of earning an extra income. The choice of country to order the products from was mostly influenced by the quality of the products, costs, and exchange rate of the currency. In addition, proximity to the nearest border town was noted to be a reason for the choice of country. This explains why Botswana (Francis town) was noted to be a common destination for most of the traders in Kazungula.

5.2. Knowledge of vulnerability Context

Vulnerability context refers to the external environment beyond the community's control (DFID, 1999). Changes in the context, such as shocks, seasonality, and trends, can negatively affect livelihoods. Kazungula district is prone to climate shocks such as floods, extreme temperatures, and dry spells. There was a consensus in the findings that participants have observed low precipitation, extreme temperatures, and long dry spells¹. Similarly, results from individual interviews also showed related observations. For example, when asked about their observations on climate change:

One trader observed that:

".... Changes are there in the duration of the rainy season because this time around, rains begin in mid-December to January compared to the past days because, in the past, rains started in October, but this time around, it's different."²

Another observed that:

".... drought takes a long period of time because even in the seasons in which we expected to have rain, there is no rain. In my childhood, the time when we used to celebrate independence on the 24th of October, we used to celebrate independence in green grasses. But nowadays, you find that people celebrate independence when it is dry."³

¹ FGD results

² IT1: Interviewee # 1- sold groundnuts, charcoal, mats, and flour.

³ IT3: Interviewee # 3- cosmetics, salon and beddings

The participants further observed prolonged extreme temperatures. Hot temperatures were noted to have been running across all seasons. While the duration of the rainy and cold seasons was reported to be reducing, the hot seasons seem to dominate. One trader noted that the temperatures were increasingly becoming hot in the dry season⁴. The current study's findings confirm the results of the study by Swennenhuis and Mandima (2012, p.11), who projected increased variability and incidences of floods in the Kazungula area. Using vulnerability context as the first point of analysis (SLA) has enabled us to explore shocks and dimensions of climate change that affect the livelihoods of the cross-traders. Even though the theory offers a variety of factors that could be investigated, I only focused on those aspects related to climate change. Fundamental changes noted by respondents were mainly extreme temperatures, variability in precipitation and prolonged drought. DFID (1999) argued that vulnerability context could negatively affect livelihood assets, vital for attaining salient livelihood options.

5.3. Impact of Climate Change on Livelihood Assets

To understand how climate change impacts the livelihoods of cross-border traders, I explored key livelihood assets, which included physical, natural, financial, and social capital. DFID (1999) argues that the SLA explores the assets, and how they are turned into livelihoods outcomes.

5.3.1. Access to Physical and Natural Capital

Cross-border traders have access to various local infrastructures such as roads, bridges, and education. The area has an ultramodern bridge which has, on the one hand, increased the mobility of the traders and, on the other hand, affected the trading activities. Previously traders used a pontoon to cross over to neighbouring countries, but with the new bridge, they find it easy to do their work. However, on the negative side, the bridge came with a one-stop border facility which regulates trading activities. Hence, traders find paying the charges associated with their trading work difficult. Further, climate change has presented various challenges

⁴ IT5: Sales hair, blankets, and duvets

regarding natural and physical capital. The areas close to the riverbank were more exposed to floods. A feasibility study on water and sanitation projects established that communities near the river bank, like Makalanguzu, were susceptible to climate hazards such as floods and human safety (Weeks and Seath, 2016, p. 37). The report further shows that:

Agricultural activity as an income generator is also very limited, largely due to the unfavourable soil conditions in the area around the town (ibid, p.36).

This is why most of the livelihoods, especially around the border, which are drought-prone, often depend on cross-border trading. The findings are further amplified in the Eighth National Development, which shows that:

"Climate change and variability have led to adverse effects such as droughts, floods and extreme temperatures on key sectors including energy, agriculture, and water. This has resulted in decreased hydroelectricity generation capacity, food insecurity and limited access to clean drinking water for people and animals" (Ministry of Finance and National Planning, 2022, p. 59).

Similarly, respondents observed that surrounding villages, such as Sikaunzwe and Mambova, were exposed to floods, making roads impassable⁵. This affected traders as they only made a few sells during periods of floods. Surprisingly, power outages were never mentioned as an issue. Does it imply that the area is free of load shading or that most traders do not sell goods that require refrigeration? Since most traders sell clothing, power should not be an issue. In addition to the effects on road infrastructure, transportation costs of the products from the wholesale traders to their respective retail shops were noted to have been high. When asked about the impacts of climate change on the business's profitability, one respondent who sold electronic products complained about the high cost of transportation of his goods

⁵ RP3: FGD – Salon and beddings

from Botswana⁶.

Another respondent from a FGD who sells foodstuff from Botswana said:

"I sometimes try to cut on transport costs by requesting a lift in private cars. But with the issues of rainfall, for example, if it is raining too much, you are forced to sometimes not travel, you stay back and not make any income. Also, if it is very hot, some things like foodstuff usually go bad"⁷.

These findings are consistent with the results of the study by Zata (2016), who also established that cross-border traders had challenges with the cost of transportation and opted for affordable ones, which were often long-distance trucks which took several days to get to their destinations. With increased temperatures and rainfall coupled with poor road infrastructure, the traders involved in perishable goods were at high risk of experiencing losses. Even though traders' livelihoods do not directly depend on aspects of natural and physical capital, the effects of climate change on the physical infrastructure and natural environment seem to affect their livelihoods.

5.3.2. Access to Human Capital

Human capital refers to the "skills, knowledge, ability to labour and good health for the pursuit of different livelihood strategies" (Scoones, 1998, p. 8). The majority of traders in Kazungula do not have high levels of education; most of them have only attained lower primary school education. When asked about training opportunities, one trader indicated that she had participated in capacity building⁸ focusing on women's empowerment. Nevertheless, the focus group discussion noted that there were no capacity-building opportunities for traders. This could explain why most traders were not applying for available grants while others had never received positive feedback from their applications (see details under the rubric of financial capital).

⁶ RP1: FGD respondent – saloon and beddings

⁷ RP2: FGD Sales foodstuff

⁸ IT5: sales blankets, beddings

Even though the government is making efforts to support cross-border traders, Kazungula has received less support. For example, the COMESA Small Scale Cross Border Trade Initiative which aims to ease trade inflows by promoting policy reforms in the COMESA region; the project only targeted four border posts, namely Chirundu, Nakonde, Mwami and Kasumbalesa. However, Kazungula was not included in the project (COMESA, 2020). Human capital has a bearing on the ability of the community to earn a living or adapt to the impacts of climate change. Hence, according to Robeyns (2005, p. 99), I would argue that traders are affected by both "personal" (lack of skills or training) and "social conversion factors" (lack of government policies to support cross-border traders) which impedes their ability to pursue various livelihood activities.

5.3.3. Access to Financial Capital

Financial capital refers to financial resources an individual uses to attain their livelihood objectives (DFID, 1999). Examples include pensions, grants from the state, loans, and basic infrastructure. These are vital for the pursuit of livelihoods (Scoones, 1998, p.8). If other capitals are affected by climate change, financial capital may serve as a critical resource for both adaptation and recovery. The district has various financial institutions, including banks and microfinance services. However, most traders need more capability to access formal banking systems. Hence, they are not able to get loans due to collateral requirements. Climate change has significantly affected traders, especially those with low capital (primarily women). Most of these traders do not have formal documents of the establishment of their business. Even though the government, through the Ministry of Community Development and Social Services, runs the Social Cash Transfer and women empowerment programmes (Ministry of Community Development and Social Services, 2022), the traders interviewed had yet to access these funds. Further, despite the decentralisation policy, which has allowed for the disbursement of funds at the district level through the Constituency Development Fund (CDF), traders have not accessed these funding opportunities.

When asked about access to financial resources, a trader who participated in a focus

group discussion explained that:

"I don't think there are any people who have come across to help the traders, especially the small-scale traders. Why do I say so? (...) people can come, we will hear from the District Commissioner that there are forms here make the small groups of 10, they will even end up grabbing some of our money to make papers for photocopies and afterwards go quiet (...)."⁹

Another participant said that:

"(...) I will still have to remove either 5 kwacha or 6 kwacha so that I buy the form. So, I just thought that it is just wasting my time because there's nothing which came true in Kazungula"¹⁰.

Another trader claimed that:

"(...) we have had the Constituency Development Fund now we have the Citizen Economic Empowerment (CEE) program all those issues we have applied many times, but there's nothing which has come out of it."¹¹

I observed that respondents with higher income and used cross-border trading as an additional source of income were more capable of applying for the grants as most of them were employed while others had formal education. However, traders with a low level of education had never applied for the grants, and they did not have the capability to do so.

Further cross-border traders seem to have lost confidence in institutions that offer grants because they have not received any help even after applying. In addition, some traders lack information about loan requirements and procedures. One trader who sells beddings narrated that:

"(...) the council (municipality) told me to sign on the form for

⁹ RP 8- FGD – sales con sugar and beans

¹⁰RP 1 – FGD – sales cosmetics and beddings

¹¹ IT5 – Interview – sales hair blankets and clothing

a loan, but I refused to get the money which will come as a loan. So again, I feared getting the loan, whose terms and conditions I did not know. It is better when you get something which you have knowledge about, and you know that the loan you receive is for how long and when to start paying back. We have heard many that people who got loans have ended up losing their businesses, their houses, just a lot of things."¹²

Further data from the Eighth National Development Plan indicated that:

"Effective citizen participation in economic activities is limited by low savings rates, casualisation, weak credit cultures, high borrowing costs that restrict access to finance, and insufficient skills in the creation of bankable proposals" (Ministry of Finance and National Planning, 2022, p. 33).

The findings of this study show that, despite the presence of some financial institutions, cross-border traders had limited access to financial resources or insurance. Since their livelihoods depend on this asset, the effects of climate change may be difficult to overcome due to limited resources. According to the capability approach, more than the availability of resources is needed; the ability of the individuals to convert those assets into functionings is of great importance (Robeyns, 2005). The findings can be understood from the capability perspective that traders' "personal conversion" factors, such as lack of skills in proposal development and "social conversion" factors, such as banking policies, affect the capability of traders with low income to adapt to the effects of climate change (Robeyns and Byskov, 2020).

5.3.4. Access to Social Capital

Social capital refers to membership in formal or informal associations where people

gain resources when pursuing various livelihood goals (DFID,199). It includes, among others, "social networks, affiliation and social claims" (Scoones,1998, p. 8). Vulnerable groups have scanty resources to afford formal insurance or loans from lending institutions in case of climate hazards such as floods and prolonged droughts (Narayan *et al.*, 1999). Hence, local networks become the key source of strength in times of stress. When people are in a group can influence or place a demand on the political agenda. In their assessment of 47 countries, Narayan *et al.* (1999) found that the common source of social capital for vulnerable groups was mainly the extended family. On the contrary, experiences of cross-border traders in Kazungula showed that membership in associations such as cross-border associations and village banking groups was a common source of social capital (see the details on adaptation). Women were primarily involved in local associations.

One trader shared her experience with Cross Border Traders Association (CBTA) membership:

When asked about her involvement in the association, she said:

"I am a member of COMESA Cross Border Trader Association, so in this association, we contribute some money as a membership fee, and the main issue about that group was like us, who are small-scale traders when we go to Botswana, we should be paying let me say for instance when we come with our goods, we are not supposed to pay more, but they will have to reduce a bit. For example, if my duty is 3000 kwacha, I will just pay 1,500 kwacha because I am a member of CBTA. But since I joined this group, I have not seen any progress. I don't know if there's a problem or maybe it is us who don't know what to do".¹³

Access to social capital is a challenge among the traders in Kazungula district. The majority of respondents have not joined any groups, but those in associations do

¹³ IT3 – sales cosmetics beddings

not see benefits, and many have stopped paying membership subscriptions. Hence in times of climate change, traders have limited capacity to adapt.

5.4. Effects of climate on livelihood strategies

The main livelihood activity in Kazungula is cross-border trading. The study found that there were two main categories of traders. The first group involved those selling manufactured products such as household goods (furniture, fans, curtains beddings, electronics, and others) which they order from Botswana (Francis town), Zimbabwe and Namibia to resale to customers in Zambia.

One trader narrated that:

"(....) clothes and beddings I order from Chinese shops in South Africa and Botswana they are quality compared to ours. (...) the same dress is of more quality in South Africa than a dress which you can find in our Zambian Pep store. In short, I can say in other countries like Botswana and Namibia they have good quality or good grades clothes compared to ours. So, it is advantages me because when people come, (...) they say your clothes are better than in pep. So, it is an advantage to my side because I saw the quality, and they are unique. Not everyone can afford to go to Botswana and South Africa and buy their own."¹⁴

The participants referred to the quality and cost of the products as the main factors for choosing the countries they trade from. Zata (2016) also found that the quality and cost of the products from other countries were the primary motivation for traders to order from neighbouring countries.

The second category comprises traders who supply Zambia's agro products such as beans, maize, and vegetables, which they order from the farmers and supply to neighbouring countries. The traders that sell manufactured items have small enterprises located in one area in the trading space of the district. Most of the traders are women with less formal education.

However, some government workers (such as teachers) are often involved in cross-

border trading as a means of gaining extra income. This was consistent with the findings in studies by (Chani, 2008; Nyahunzvi, 2014; Zata,2016) that established that some people engaged in cross-border trade are in formal employment and trade is used as an extra source of income and not a survival strategy.

Regardless of the kind of business, climate change has negatively impacted crossborder trading. For instance, when asked about the impacts of climate change on business activities, one participant explained:

"(...) Infrastructure also is affected, especially bridges. You are at the time when you want to cross to another country, you find that the bridge is washed away, so you have to stay back"¹⁵.

Even though there is a bridge that enables traders to cross to other countries, most communities still have makeshift bridges that cannot withstand the pressure of the wind and floods. A trader specialising in selling farm products explained that it was difficult to reach some villages due to extensive flooding in some areas of the district. The bridges are washed away, and roads become impassable.¹⁶ As such, traders find it hard to order or sell their products in the rainy season.

One trader selling manufactured products said:

"(...) in places like Skaunzwe (...), you find that even if it did not rain, the people are affected because of another part of Zambia where rains fall very much. A small stream before Gwenzi area becomes flooded, and people are cut off from the mainland. I usually fail to travel to the village to exchange my goods with charcoal (coal)"¹⁷.

Further, participants' businesses were affected by the unpredictable seasons, which made it difficult for traders to plan what kind of products to order. One trader specialising in manufactured products said:

¹⁵ IT3

¹⁶ IT7 – sales of secondhand clothes, groundnuts and charcoal

¹⁷ IT1

"These tracksuits I bought them last year in June. Yet it was too hot, and I could not make any sales. And now I was hoping it would be cold during this rainy season, so I ordered fleece (beddings), but because of the very hot temperatures, people are not buying them"¹⁸.

Another participant said:

"I bought some umbrellas for the rainy season, but we do not have rain, and no one is buying them. I am running into a loss"¹⁹.

Climate change is experienced differently according to the kind of products they supply. Traders that supply groundnuts and vegetables from Zambia to Botswana complained about the heat. Most traders selling farm products have low capital and usually carry their sales on their heads. With extreme temperatures in Kazungula, traders struggle to make their sales. Key effects of heat are mainly on the health of the traders and the perishable products.

One trader said:

"I carry my vegetables and groundnuts on my head to Botswana, but there is too much heat such that I usually have a headache and feel dehydrated."²⁰

However, when asked whether it affected profits, she said she recorded no losses despite the heat. Another trader who owns an enterprise narrated that:

> "When it is dry season it is very hot, even when working, you have to plan well. For instance, in my case, once it is the hot season, I need to make sure that by 07:30 hours, I am leaving because, by 08:00 hours, I won't move; it will be very hot. And am one person who is sensitive to the sun. Once I expose

¹⁸ IT3

¹⁹ IT4 – sales shoes and beddings

²⁰ IT6- sales groundnuts and charcoal

myself to the sun, I will feel weak and cannot perform my duties properly"²¹.

Even though most respondents perceived the heat to have an effect on the traders' health, a different perspective was observed by a trader involved in the sale of plastic sandals and bedding. When asked about the impact of extreme heat on her business activities.

She narrated that:

Heat affected her plastic products, such as slippers, whose quality was comprised of extreme temperatures. She further narrated that, during the hot season, due to high temperatures, she usually has a few customers coming to buy her products²².

Further, one participant involved in trading fresh fish explained how he abandoned his business after water levels in the stream had reduced. He could no longer buy fish from fishermen in Namibia. In response to a question on how he was affected by climate change, a respondent from the focus group discussion narrated that:

> "I used to order nice fish from Mauna River in Namibia, but now, it's no longer there even other Zambian traders who used to travel there are no longer going there"²³.

This means that traders remain with limited sources of livelihood as climate change affects their means of making a living. Interestingly, the study also found that traders that had more than one line of business, especially two enterprises, did not feel that climate change affected their business. For instance, when asked whether climate change affects their business or not, one respondent who sold household goods and metal bars said:

> "Not really; what happens is if you bring what people want at that particular time, it moves, for example when it's the hot

²¹ IT7 – sales shoes and clothes

²² IT7 – sales of shoes and clothes

²³ RP2 – sales foodstuff

season, we go to Botswana, and order fans bring them here, customers are able to buy within a short period of time. It is an advantage somehow as long as you have money to order; the effect is not really much."²⁴

The findings show that climate change has a negative impact on the livelihoods of the cross-border traders in Kazungula district. The effect on one livelihood asset impacts the ability to attain other livelihood options. For example, the destruction of bridges and roads can affect the "mobility" (Nussbaum, 2011) aspect of the livelihood set.

5.5. Climate change and traders' capability to meet basic needs.

Climate change affects livelihood assets making it difficult for people to meet their essential needs. Kazungula is a rural area with part of the population in agriculture. Participants who were affected by climate change had difficulties in meeting their basic needs. One respondent who sells farming products narrated that in times of droughts, she could not afford the necessities such as sufficient food and paying children's fees as there was no water supply for the farmers to grow their crops²⁵. Another trader bemoaned that in times of climate change, she struggles to meet the basic needs of her family, including paying rentals for her small enterprise²⁶.

A trader from the focus group discussion noted that:

"If people don't have a mealie meal, they can't come and buy tropicals (sandals) or slippers which are Iam selling. They will concentrate on buying mealie meals²⁷. We are affected because business is going down. A person can't buy a television if they don't have income. What brings us business is to see that people have got enough food. Then they think of buying television (tv) as a want; then they will come for things as wants"²⁸.

²⁴ IT2 – sales of building materials and household goods

²⁵ IT 6- sales ground nuts and charcoal

²⁶ IT 5

²⁷ Mealie meal is flour made of corn, Zambia's staple food.

²⁸ RP3- sales glossaries

Similarly, one interviewee said:

"(...) all of us depend on a farmer to supply for survival. So, you find that if the farmers do not harvest well, even the cost of living will be high. Food will be expensive. Even just people who are not farmers, even their life will be hard instead of them concentrating on other things (...) food is expensive. So, they will start concentrating on buying food instead of buying other goods which they need."²⁹

This means that climate change is perceived to have a direct and indirect effect on the livelihoods of the cross- border traders. As climate change affects agriculture, farmers change their priorities on what to purchase, which is usually physiological needs, hence not being able to buy other things deemed less important. Maslow (1943) posits that people's motivation is driven by unsatisfied needs, and if all needs are not met, the focus is usually on physiological needs while others are ignored. This could be the reason for the 8th NDP to have put much emphasis on agriculture enhancement.

This document indicates that:

"(...) attain economic transformation that will be marked by advancements in industrialisation and economic diversification for sustained growth driven by agriculture (...)" (Ministry of Finance and National Planning, 2022, p. 32).

However, traders who had a wide range of products do not associate their losses with a lack of customer base from farmers due to climate change, one trader who combines, clothing, shoes, and beddings, noted that she was not affected by farmers' loss of productivity as she depended on the truck drivers who were on transit to other countries³⁰. However, she noted extreme heat and unpredictable weather patterns to be the main issues that affect her business. Generally, climate change affects the ability of traders to meet basic needs. The National Policy on Climate Change affirms that:

"(...) climate change adversely affects vulnerable groups whose livelihoods

²⁹ IT3 – trader# Beddings, cosmetics, and salon

³⁰ IT4 - trader# shoes and beddings

largely depend on natural resources, such as forestry and water. This results in food insecurity and a shortage of water. In addition, the vulnerable groups tend to be under-represented in decision-making on climate change, which in turn severely limits their ability to contribute, implement and apply their expertise" (Ministry of Lands and National Development Planning, 2016).

5.6. Adaptation capabilities challenges and opportunities

All respondents who were affected by climate change had developed some coping strategies. These included joining village banking groups, product diversification, selling goods on credit and exchanging goods for goods. When asked how they adapted to the impacts of climate change, below were the key issues that I noted.

A trader specialising in bedding and cosmetics said:

"In times of climate shocks, I usually go to Makunka village to exchange my things with Charcoal which I come and resale here."³¹

Another trader said:

"(...) When things are hard in this shop with no sales (...), those are the time when I need to have opportunities to start supplying things from Zambia to Botswana. I start supplying things in Botswana, such as kapenta (dry fish), beans or whatsoever (...). Sometimes I go with their orders (...)."³²

The traders use those strategies to enable them to survive in times of crisis. However, the impacts seem to outweigh the adaptation strategies employed. Some traders use "social capital" (DFID,199) to survive the crisis. This is mainly done through the village banking groups.

For example, one respondent said:

"I joined a village banking group and a local self-help group in our community. I save some money through this initiative and use it to keep my business running,

³¹ IT3 - trader # beddings, cosmetics, and salon

³² IT6 - trader # secondhand clothes, groundnuts, and charcoal

especially in difficult seasons. Further, I change the type of business depending on the seasons and weather patterns that prevail each year."³³

Another trader who sells cosmetics, clothes and shoes indicated *that when her* business is experiencing some losses, she often goes to order some caterpillars(worms) that are usually cheap but marketable at the border³⁴.

A trader who supplies Zambian products (ground nuts, charcoal³⁵, and secondhand clothing) to Botswana needed more capital to continue her business. Hence, her adaptation strategy was to smuggle some goods and avoid border charges³⁶. Even though this was relatively silent in most of the interviews, evidence shows that it is the typical strategy used by the traders.

For example, the COMESA fact sheet noted that:

"(....) bypassing border posts, concealment of goods, under-declaration, wrong classification, under-invoicing and other similar concealment methods (....) seeking to evade taxes or fees imposed by governments, traders also try to avoid administrative formalities in areas such as health, agriculture, security, and immigration, which are perceived as costly, complex and time-consuming" (COMESA, 2020, p. 2).

The traders feel that they do not have the power to influence the decisions through dialogue; hence they use alternative means. IPCC (2007) argued that local groups often feel that they do not have power or access to decision-making. Thus, dominant groups have more power over vulnerable groups (traders). Hence, this is a challenge in the adaptation process.

Other reasons were noted by the World Bank report, which shows:

"Some small-scale traders might actively try to avoid contact with border officials, perhaps because of past experiences of corruption or

³³ IT8 - trader # drinks, detergents, mayonnaise, and peanut butter

³⁴ IT7 – trader# Shoes and clothes

³⁵ Coal – made from trees used as a fuel source in Zambia.

³⁶ IT6 - trader # secondhand clothes, groundnuts, and charcoal

harassment, because they find the documentary requirements of the formal border clearance process overly demanding and cumbersome, or because of a lack of awareness of border requirements that leads to misperceptions about the amount of duties that are applicable to the goods they carry" (World Bank, 2020, p. 17).

Results from interviews indicated that border prices were the main challenge to adaptation. One trader stated: *"When you reach the border, you will have to pay and while in transit, some things will break, and you end up running into a loss"*³⁷ Similarly, a trader from the focus group discussion bemoaned that:

"(...) what is killing us people is the issue of the border. If Zambia Revenue Authority and the council can reduce their border pricing or the charges of goods for local traders, it will be easy. But you find you have three containers; you will be charged just like someone who is coming from Lusaka."³⁸ Another interviewee said: "(...) For me, to take things in Botswana is not easy. I need to declare them sometimes when I reach the border; there are things which are not passing there. For instance, lotions. So, I need to make plans on how I am going to take them there."³⁹

The Eighth National Development Plan asserts that the "inefficiencies at the border posts result in delays in clearing goods" (Ministry of Finance and National Planning, 2022, p. 33). These challenges affect traders' ability to adapt to the impacts of climate change. Nevertheless, the traders perceived climate change to have created opportunities for cross-border traders. The effects of climate change, especially natural assets, would allow traders to supply scarce products, hence maximising profits. For instance, one trader highlighted that:

"(...) there is a certain time when we had much rainfall, we ordered umbrellas and people bought until they finished, so it was an advantage to us because we needed business."⁴⁰

³⁷ IT2 – trader # building materials and household goods

³⁸ RP1- FGD respondent

³⁹ IT3 - trader # beddings, cosmetics, and salon

⁴⁰ IT5- trader# hair, blankets, duvets, and clothes

Further, another trader noted that when there was poor rainfall, it gave her an opportunity to order food from Botswana to supply in Kazungula, and she made very good sales⁴¹.

In addition, traders supplying household goods seem to take advantage of extreme heat to sell fans from Botswana. The findings from both document reviews and interviews indicate that traders have the potential to adapt to climate change but are often challenged by structures such as border restrictions that seem not to favour small-scale traders.

⁴¹ RP2- FGD respondent

6. Discussion

This section gives more detailed insights into my fundings in relation to the two theories, sustainable livelihoods approach and capability theory. The study aimed to respond to three questions which included (1) How does climate change affect the livelihoods of cross-border traders in Kazungula district? (2) What adaptation strategies do cross-border traders employ to cope with the impacts of climate change? (3) What challenges or opportunities do cross-border traders encounter in adapting to climate change? I will show how the two theories were able to address the questions and possible weaknesses. The empirical data will be collated with the existing literature to show the commonalities and unique contribution of this study to the body of knowledge.

6.1. Impacts of climate change on cross-border traders Knowledge system

Local knowledge is vital for understating, predicting, and planning for adaptation. In as much as modern society relies much on meteorological records, local people's observations play a critical role in adapting to climate change. Kronlid (2014) argued that climate change can lead to the loss of local knowledge systems.

Traders in Kazungula perceived climate change as extreme temperatures across the year, reduced duration of the rainy season, droughts, and floods. One trader complained of the unpredictable nature of the weather patterns and seasons in the Kazungula district. Traders used key national events such as Independence Day celebrations and Christmas to track seasonal changes and plan their activities. However, due to climate change, the respondents observed a lack of rainfall in the months they previously used to have rain and weather patterns were unpredictable. This would imply that "weather randomness" (Kronlid, 2014, p. 40) has led to the loss of local knowledge and may affect how traders would adapt to the impacts of climate change. This loss of traditional knowledge may impact their capability to be "rational" in the light of climate change. This is evident in the sentiments of a

trader who could not sell her tracksuits and fleece blankets due to unpredictable temperatures (IT3).

These findings differ slightly from a study conducted in Ghana that focused on small-scale urban traders. The study established that traders perceived climate change as a lack of rainfall and did not include extreme heat and floods (Arku, Angmor and Adjei, 2017). Does this suggest that because small-scale traders in the urban areas conduct their businesses in shelters while cross-border traders are always in transit and are exposed to extreme heat? Or could it also be possible that because the study took place when there was a warning of a cyclone in the country and lots of awareness on the topic might have influenced their responses? It seems the location of the border and traders' current and past experiences influenced their perceptions of climate change. A study from Bangladesh affirms that "recent memories of climate events could affect local people's beliefs in the direction of change" (Momtaz and Shameem, 2016, p. 99). Further continued awareness of climate change on radio stations might have contributed to their understanding. However, both Robeyns (2005) and DFID (1999) seem not to address how exposure to sudden shocks influences respondents' knowledge of climate change.

Despite this discrepancy, I found some similar trends in the perceptions of the farmers. Studies that investigated farmers found mostly excessive heat, drought (Nzeadibe *et al.*, 2012; Mulenga, Wineman and Sitko, 2017) and "rainfall distribution" (Arku, 2013, p. 427). The result of this study further complements previous empirical studies conducted in Kazungula. These studies projected extreme temperatures above 26°C and a projected increase of 1°C and 3°C by 2060, and rainfall, as well as drought incidences, have been noted to be more frequent (Swennenhuis and Mandima, 2012; Ambukege, 2019). However, these changes have resulted in the loss of local knowledge, which continues to affect traders in planning and conducting their work considering climate change.

Working and play (focus on work)

Climate change was found to have affected the livelihood strategies of the crossborder traders in Kazungula district. Interestingly, unlike farmers who are mostly affected by drought and rainfall variations (Arku, 2013; Mulenga, Wineman and Sitko, 2017), cross-border traders are also affected by extreme temperatures. Traders that were affected by floods associated it with the destruction of road infrastructure, which makes it impossible for them to order products for sale, while others associated it with a reduced number of customers and profitability of their businesses. In other words, climate change affected the "mobility" (Kronlid, 2014) capacity of cross-border traders. The heat was noted to affect the "health", especially of the traders that sold their products on the streets of the neighbouring countries but did not result in a loss in profits. This could be due to resilience to the heat. However, those who sold warm clothing bemoaned the lack of sales due to prolonged extreme temperatures. The perceptions of the effects of climate change seemed to have been influenced by the duration and kind of trading activities being done by the traders. For example, traders involved in the sale of household goods did not complain about the heat, yet those who sold their products on the streets struggled with extreme heat.

Capability to meet basic needs

I found a strong link between agricultural productivity and the effects of climate change on the livelihoods of traders. It was noted that traders' income was reduced when climate change affected farming activities. Some traders, for example, those selling manufactured products, complained of a lack of sales while those who purchased farm products lacked goods to supply to neighbouring countries, leading to the high cost of doing business.

I further found that climate change affected the capability of some traders to meet basic needs such as food, paying rentals and fees for the children. This confirms the findings by Arku et al. (2017), who established that traders who were affected by climate change had difficulties in meeting their basic needs. Another point of convergence in our findings was on the level of education; people with higher education could meet most of their necessities. However, the results of the current study are slightly different as I found some indirect effects of climate change due to the effects on the farmers' livelihoods. A study conducted in Kazungula also found that farmers were severely food insecure during the period of floods or climate hazards (Ambukege, 2019). Even though a few traders reported not to have been affected by climate change's impacts on agriculture, the farmers seem to be at the centre of the community livelihood in Kazungula as they are both suppliers of agricultural products and primary consumers of the manufactured goods. Rural traders seem to experience more effects of climate change than those in urban areas due to their locations and dependence on climate-sensitive livelihoods.

Even though DFID (1999) emphasises access to capital and Robeyns (2005) conversion of the resources into functioning, both seem to ignore the interconnected nature of rural livelihoods. It appears the impacts of climate change on farmers' livelihoods have spillover effects on the well-being of the traders. For example, one trader who was involved in foodstuff trading noted the change in the priorities of the customers whenever there was poor rainfall which affected the farmers. The customers did not buy the products such as bedding and clothes as they opted for basic needs like food instead of other products (RP2). Hence, to understand this relationship, I would suggest using theories that consider both basic needs and the nature of the rural system instead of assuming that all rural livelihoods directly depend on natural assets.

6.2. Traders' adaptation strategies

The capability of social systems to adjust to and deal with the effects of climate change depends on various elements, including money, technological advances, education, knowledge, abilities, infrastructure, availability of assets, and leadership skills (McCarthy *et al.*, 2001, p. 8). Chambers and Conway (1991) add that people's ability to pursue certain livelihood options depends on the availability of assets at their disposal and their unique capabilities. Further, adaptation was theorised to take many forms, which included "reducing current consumption; accumulating and storing in other assets; preserving and protecting asset base for recovery; selling assets; diversifying; make claims and migrate" (ibid, p. 11).

This study found that cross-border traders in times of climate hazards adopted coping strategies such as diversifying the products they supplied on the market. For example, one trader travelled to nearby villages to exchange her products with charcoal for resale at the Kazungula border (IT3). Other strategies used were joining village savings groups and giving out their products on credit. For example, they begin to order things that are in short supply, such as Maize, dry fish (capenta) and some processed goods, which they exchange with other products, such as charcoal and beans.

However, findings from a study that focused on urban traders in Ghana established that the majority of traders did not opt for coping strategies (Arku, Angmor and Adjei, 2017, p. 64). Further, those who opted for coping strategies depended on friends, family, and manual labour. Similarly, a study in Kazungula found that most of the farmers did not opt for copying strategies. However, those who opted employed "stress coping strategies", "emergency coping strategies", and "crisis coping strategies"(Ambukege, 2019, p. 42). The findings are different from the results of this study; instead of selling productive assets or borrowing from friends and relatives, cross-border traders have used local strategies to strive to recover or adjust to the impacts of climate change. Hence, the findings fit well with the SLA and CA that emphasises on the local resources and abilities of the individual.

It was also noted from this study that one's income level mainly influenced the choice of adaptation. For example, traders with lower capital, especially those selling farming produce, seemed to have limited adaptation options. At the same time, those with bigger enterprises were more capable of adjusting as they had access to financial capital. Further, such traders saw climate change as an opportunity to increase sales during a crisis. For example, one trader explained that when there was poor rainfall, it gave her an opportunity to order food from Botswana to supply in Kazungula, and she made very good sales (IT4).

Diverging from theorised claims on adaptation, this study also found that traders smuggled some products. This enabled them to avoid border charges in order to remain with a decent capital (see details on adaptation challenges). Hence, in addition to Chambers and Conway (1991) propositions earlier highlighted, people with low adaptation capability to the impacts of climate change may consider illegal survival strategies.

However, there has been a great support in the literature that social capital can lead to the reduction of vulnerability (Woolcock and Narayan, 2000) and increase "economic efficiency" (Department for International Development, 1999) by improving people's income when individuals or communities encounter crises. This raises an expectation that traders' access to social capital, such as being a member of the village banking group and membership in cross-border associations, would enhance their capacity to adapt to the impacts of change. On the contrary, I found that membership in these associations was only a temporary strategy and not an adaptation. For example, being a member of COMESA CBTA did not give a voice to traders who hoped for the reduction of border fees. This confirms the claim by (Adger, Lorenzoni and O'Brien, 2007), who suggested that "the relationship between social capital and adaptation is neither unidirectional nor necessarily positive".

6.3. Capabilities and challenges in adaptation to climate change

Challenges to adaption have been categorized into three subgroups which include limited access to financial capital, border restrictions and absence of support structures (transformation structures and processes).

Access to livelihood assets depends on the individual's capacities and external factors (Robeyns, 2005). Cross-border traders in Kazungula have taken the localbased adaptation strategies, which may be referred to as "autonomous adaption" (McCarthy *et al.*, 2001, p. 8). However, the traders have limited access to microfinancial institutions where they could get loans in times of crisis due to low capital and level of education. In addition, most cross-der traders lacked alternative "regular inflows of money" (DFID, 1999), like pensions and social safety net services such as social cash transfer programmes. IPCC report affirms that local adaptation strategies are often constrained by a "lack of adequate financial resources" (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2007, p. 734). This seems to be influenced by what Robeyns and Byskov (2021) called personal (skills, knowledge) and social conversion factors (financial policies). Most traders had lower levels of education coupled with discriminatory monetary policies that do not allow vulnerable groups access to loans.

A study conducted in Heartlands areas, including Kazungula district, noted constrained access to financial facilities by rural households because they do not meet the criteria of lending institutions (Swennenhuis and Mandima, 2012). A study in Namibia also established that capital was a challenge for cross-border traders, and their activities were mainly funded by individual servings (Zata, 2016). Hence, village banking becomes the primary source of income in times of climate crisis. However, Narayan *et al.* (1999, p. 45) argued that "when poor people support each other, their scant resources may limit the gains made". For example, the village savings scheme is based on trust, and the risk of loss is very high. If a participant loses funds or fails to pay the loan, it may lead to a huge loss for the members. This would result in the failure of the traders to adapt to climate change.

Further, the adaptation process transcends individual endowments and capacities. The IPCC report showed that people could have access to resources but converting them into positive livelihood outcomes can be affected by "regulations" and organisations or national policies (IPCC, 2007). The findings of this study show that traders' adaptation was affected by the lack of support systems. The study found that there were no institutions that directly supported traders in the adaptation process. However, public programmes such as the Citizens Economic Empowerment Fund and Constituency Development funds are not accessible to traders. Even those who had applied have never received any of these grants; as such, traders feel frustrated with such institutions, and some traders do not feel the need to apply for such opportunities. Even though others have joined the cross-border association seeking to enhance "collective capacities"(Ibrahim, 2006), this has not translated to the improvement of their capability to influence change.

This study also found that all traders in both FGD and individual interviews complained about stringent measures at the border, which greatly affected the

adaptation process. Key issues noted included delays, confiscation of property and customs duty. Similarly, the 8th National Development Plan affirms that there are inefficiencies at the border posts, leading to delays in clearing goods (MFNP, p. 33). As a result, traders opt for other means, such as smuggling and under-declaration of property. Both COMESA (2020, p. 2) and (Kachere, 2011) found that cross-border traders used various strategies, including "wrong classification", "under invoicing", and smuggling to evade taxes. This puts the cross-borders at risk of abuse, arrest and others (COMESA, 2021).

Further, the study noted the high cost of transportation to have affected traders' adaptation process. To overcome this and custom duties. Traders use long-distance trucks (carrying products such as copper and others) from one of the neighbouring countries. They often pay drivers not to declare the goods as they are often not searched for small merchandise. As such, the traders can evade tax and continue with their businesses. This explains why some traders refused to be recorded or sign consent forms during the interview sessions.

The above challenges make it difficult for traders to adapt to the impacts of climate change. Unlike farmers, traders do not have many support structures in the community, they lack support from both the government and private institutions as such autonomous adaptation has been at the core in Kazungula. Traders have often relied on social capital and their own income to cope with the impacts of climate change.

Finally, using the different sources of information has helped authenticate and gather information neither method would have been able to collect. For instance, interviews alone would not have provided information regarding challenges in adaptation due to their association with border illegalities. Most traders avoided talking about this, but I understood the situation in detail by reviewing the documents. Further, combing the two theories has enabled me to explore my research questions adequately. However, adding a third theory, like the basic needs approach, will help to unearth the interconnected nature of rural livelihoods and the effects of climate change.

7. Conclusion

The aim of this study was to understand the impact of climate change on the livelihoods of the cross-border traders in Zambia. The study was guided by the following sub questions: RQ1.1. focused on the understanding the impacts of climate change on the livelihoods; RQ1.2. aimed at elaborating the adaptation strategies employed by the traders while RQ1.3. focused on the challenges and opportunities encountered by the traders as they adapt to the impacts of climate change. The study was guided by the stainable livelihood approach and the capability approach. SLA was used explore the context and various capital endowments in the community and how climate change has affected traders access to such livelihood assets. The capability approach was used to identify key capacities that were vulnerable to climate change and how that affected the adaptation process of the traders.

The findings of the study showed that traders were greatly impacted by the impacts of climate change. The cross-border traders were mostly affected by drought, extreme temperatures, and unpredictable rainfall patterns. I found traders knowledge was consistent with findings of other studies done in Zambia. However, I noticed that traders were affected by various dimensions of climate change unlike farmers who mostly mentioned rainfall variations. The reason for this was because traders are often mobile, hence affected by heat. Further, the warning about cyclone Fred which circulated during the period of the study might have enhanced the traders' perceptions of climate change.

The central capabilities affected by climate change included mobility which was mostly due floods and destruction of the road infrastructure; Bodily health which was associated with extreme heat especially traders who carried their products in the streets; Work and play which mainly associated on their abilities to do their business in the light of climate change; Knowledge systems was mainly due unpredictable seasons which made it impossible for the traders to plan the type of products to supply on the local market. Climate change has led to the loss of local knowledge which is key for the adaptation of cross-border traders. Despite these effects on their capacities, traders have opted for copying strategies.

The coping strategies in literature have been noted to include reducing consumption; storing in other assets; preserving assert base; selling assets; diversification; make claims and migration (Chambers and Conway 1991, p. 11). In the current study, I found that traders had employed coping strategies which included diversification; exchange goods with other products; sale their products on credit; venture in different businesses and joining village savings groups. However, these strategies were influenced by the kind of business they were doing and the level of income. Those with higher income were more likely to order their products from other countries during the climate crisis such as floods which was seen as an opportunity for them. But for the low capital traders which were mostly women, it very difficult to adapt, with the majority joining own savings groups.

The study found three key barriers to adaptation which included lack of access to financial capital, border restrictions and lack of support from institutions. Access to financial capital was noted to be a big challenge as traders did not have the capacity to apply for the loans due to low capital and lack of skills. Further, cross-borders' low capital businesses which have already been impacted by climate change are subjected to payment of duty at the border. This makes it difficult for the traders to raise enough income to adapt to climate change. This has led to traders avoiding the border and declaring their products. After reviewing the public documents, both the 8th National Development Plan and National Policy on Climate Change do not seem to address the plight of the traders.

The study found two interesting findings which were not found in most literature. First, the interconnected nature of the rural livelihoods systems meant that when farmers were affected by climate change, traders experienced the worst effects, I learned that farmers were the primary customers of manufactured products and producers of agricultural products. Hence, traders were most vulnerable to the impacts of climate change. Second, this study established that power relations within rural context may lead to the adoption of illegal means of adaptation strategies. Since traders have no capacity or control over border and tax decisions, they opt for smuggling to avoid tax.

Finally, by combing SLA and CA we have been able to unearth findings which would not have been brought out by either theory alone. SLA has provided a stepby-step approach for analyzing the impacts of climate change while CA has given insights into the effects and challenges in adaptation. This combination has helped in identifying assets and capacities of the traders convert those resources into livelihoods outcomes.

Future studies could consider comparative study of impacts of climate change on livelihoods focusing on farmers and traders. Most studies have brought out the understanding of the farmers while we have bridged the gap by adding rural traders. There is a need to compare the traders' views and farmers to understand some differences in their perceptions. Further, future studies could explore why traders with higher education seem to be less affected by climate change than those with no education. In addition, there is a need to understand the extent to which climate disaster warnings (e.g cyclone) could influence traders' perceptions on climate change.

References

Adger, W.N., Lorenzoni, I. and O'Brien, K.L. (2007) 'ADAPTING TO CLIMATE CHANGE: Thresholds, Values, Governance', p. 532. 10.1111/j.1475--4959.2010.00360_5.x.

Alharahsheh, H.H. and Pius, A. (2020) 'A Review of key paradigms: positivism VS interpretivism', Global Academic Journal of Humanities and Social Sciences, p. 2(3) 39-43. Available at: https://www.gajrc.com/media/articles/GAJHSS 23 39-43 VMGJbOK.pdf.

Ambukege, L.M. (2019) Impacts Of Climate Change And Climate Variability On Agriculture And Household Food Security In Kazungula District.Lusaka. University of Zambia: available at: http://dspace.unza.zm/handle/123456789/6872

Arku, Frank.S. (2013) 'Local creativity for adapting to climate change among rural farmers in the semi-arid region of Ghana', International Journal of Climate Change Strategies and Management, 5(4), pp. 418–430. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCCSM-08-2012-0049.

Arku, F.S., Angmor, E.N. and Adjei, G.T. (2017a) 'Perception and responses of traders to climate change in downtown, Accra, Ghana', International Journal of Climate Change Strategies and Management, 9(1), pp. 56–67. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCCSM-03-2016-0027.

Barbour, R. (2007) Doing Focus Groups. 1 Oliver's Yard, 55 City Road, London EC1Y 1SP United Kingdom: SAGE Publications Ltd. Available at: https://doi.org/10.4135/9781849208956.

Bazeley, P. and Jackson, K. (2013) Qualitative data analysis with NVivo. Second edition. Los Angeles; London: SAGE Publications.

Belachew, O. and Zuberi, M.I. (2015) 'Perception of Climate Change and Livelihood of a Farming Community of Maruf Kebele, Central Oromia, Ethiopia', American Journal of Climate Change, 4(3), pp. 269–281. Available at: https://doi.org/10.4236/ajcc.2015.43022.

Billups, F.D. (2021) Qualitative Data Collection Tools: Design, Development, and Applications. 2455 Teller Road, Thousand Oaks California 91320: SAGE Publications, Inc. Available at: https://doi.org/10.4135/9781071878699.

Birt, L. et al. (2016) 'Member Checking: A Tool to Enhance Trustworthiness or Merely a Nod to Validation?', Qualitative Health Research, 26(13), pp. 1802–1811. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316654870.

Carter, N. et al. (2014) 'The Use of Triangulation in Qualitative Research', Oncology Nursing Forum, 41(5), pp. 545–547. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1188/14.ONF.545-547.

Chambers, R. and Conway, G.R. (1991) Sustainable Rural Livelihoods: Practical concepts for the 21st Century. Available at: https://opendocs-ids-ac-uk.ludwig.lub.lu.se/opendocs/bitstream/handle/20.500.12413/775/Dp296.pdf?sequence=1&isAllo wed=y (Accessed: 15 February 2023).

Climate Watch (2020) 'Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Emissions'. World Resource Institute, Washington. Available at: https://www.climatewatchdata.org/ghg-emissions?end_year=2019&start_year=1990 (Accessed: 12 April 2023).

COMESA (2020) 'Small-Scale Cross-Border Trade Initiative.Fact Sheet'. Available at: https://eutradesupport.comesa.int/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/SSCB_fact_sheet_Final.pdf (Accessed: 26 April 2023).

COMESA (2021) Minimum-Standards-for-the-Treatment-of-Small-Scale.pdf, COMESA. Available at: https://eutradesupport.comesa.int/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/Minimum-Standards-for-the-Treatment-of-Small-Scale.pdf (Accessed: 25 April 2023).

Creswell, J.W. and Creswell, J.D. (2018) 'Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approaches': Loss Angeles:SAGE.

Creswell, J.W. and Poth, C.N. (2018) Qualitative inquiry & research design: choosing among five approaches. Fourth edition. Los Angeles: SAGE.

CSO (2016) '2015 living conditions monitoring survey report'. Republic of Zambia, Central Statistical Office, Lusaka. Available at: https://pdfroom.com/books/2015-living-conditions-monitoring-survey-report/MkLg8MGk2ZB/download (Accessed: 11 April 2023).

Danby, S. and Farrell, A. (2004) 'Accounting for young children's competence in educational research: New perspectives on research ethics', The Australian Educational Researcher, 31(3), pp. 35–49. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03249527.

Department for International Development (1999) Sustainable livelihoods guidance sheets. Available at:

https://www.livelihoodscentre.org/documents/114097690/114438878/Sustainable+livelihoods+gui dance+sheets.pdf/594e5ea6-99a9-2a4e-f288-cbb4ae4bea8b?t=1569512091877 (Accessed: 28 September 2022).

Dube, T. et al. (2016) 'The Impact of Climate Change on Agro-Ecological Based Livelihoods in Africa: A Review', Journal of Sustainable Development, 9. Available at: https://doi.org/10.5539/jsd.v9n1p256.

Farrugia, B. (2019) 'WASP (Write a Scientific Paper): Sampling in qualitative research', EarlyHumanDevelopment,133,pp.69–71.Availableat:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2019.03.016.

Flick, U. (2009) An Introduction to Qualitative Research (4th ed.). London: SAGE Publications Ltd.

GRZ (2006) Vision 2030: "A prosperous Middle-income Nation By 2030". Available at: www.nor.gov.zm.pdf (Accessed: 12 April 2023).

H. Matarira, C. et al. (2013) 'Socio-economic impacts of climate change on subsistence communities: Some observations from Lesotho', International Journal of Climate Change Strategies and Management, 5(4), pp. 404–417. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCCSM-06-2012-0034.

Hamadeh, N. et al. (2022) New World Bank country classifications by income level: 2022-2023. Available at: https://blogs.worldbank.org/opendata/new-world-bank-country-classificationsincome-level-2022-2023 (Accessed: 17 April 2023).

Hammill, A. et al. (2005) Using the sustainable livelihoods approach to reduce vulnerability to climate change. Center for International Forestry Research, pp. 71–96. Available at: https://www.jstor.org/stable/resrep02052.10 (Accessed: 6 May 2023).

Haque, M.A. et al. (2012) 'Households' perception of climate change and human health risks: A community perspective', Environmental Health, 11(1), p. 1. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-069X-11-1.

Howe, K. and Moses, M. (1999) 'Ethics in Educational Research', Review of Research in Education, 24, p. 21. Available at: https://doi.org/10.2307/1167266.

Hudson, L.A. and Ozanne, J.L. (1988) 'Alternative Ways of Seeking Knowledge in Consumer Research', Journal of Consumer Research, 14(4), pp. 508–521. Available at: https://ludwig.lub.lu.se/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType =ip,uid&db=edsjsr&AN=edsjsr.2489157&site=eds-live&scope=site (Accessed: 14 April 2023).

Ibrahim, S.S. (2006) 'From Individual to Collective Capabilities: The Capability Approach as a Conceptual Framework for Self-help', Journal of Human Development, 7(3), pp. 397–416. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/14649880600815982.

IPCC (2007) Climate change 2007: impacts, adaptation and vulnerability: contribution of Working Group II to the fourth assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge, U.K.; New York: Cambridge University Press.

IPCC (2022) Global Warming of 1.5°C: IPCC Special Report on Impacts of Global Warming of 1.5°C above Pre-industrial Levels in Context of Strengthening Response to Climate Change, Sustainable Development, and Efforts to Eradicate Poverty. Cambridge University Press. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009157940.

Ishumael, S. and Godwell, N. (2015) 'An Investigation into the Household Climate Change Adaptation Strategies in Makonde Communal Lands of Zimbabwe', Journal of Human Ecology, 52(1–2), pp. 116–130. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/09709274.2015.11906936.

Islam, T. and Ryan, J. (2016) Chapter 4. Mitigation in the Private Sector | Elsevier Enhanced Reader. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-420134-7.00004-7.

Israel, M. (2015) Research Ethics and Integrity for Social Scientists: Beyond Regulatory Compliance. 1 Oliver's Yard, 55 City Road, London EC1Y 1SP United Kingdom: SAGE Publications Ltd. Available at: https://doi.org/10.4135/9781473910096.

Janghorban, R., Latifnejad, R., Roudsari and Taghipour, A. (2014) 'Pilot Study in Qualitative Research: The Roles and Values', Hayat, 19(4), pp. 1–5. Available at: http://hayat.tums.ac.ir/article-1-666-en.html (Accessed: 16 April 2023).

Kachere, W. (2011) Informal cross border trading and poverty reduction in Southern Africa Development Community: The case of Zimbabwe. University of Fort Hare. Available at: https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/145047805.pdf (Accessed: 6 April 2023).

Kalantary, C. (2010) 'Climate Change in Zambia: Impacts and Adaptation'. *Global Majority E-Journal*, 1(2), pp.85-96.

Keshavarz, M., Maleksaeidi, H. and Karami, E. (2017) 'Livelihood vulnerability to drought: A case of rural Iran', International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction, 21, pp. 223–230. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2016.12.012.

Kronlid, D.O. (2014) 'The Capabilities Approach to Climate Change', in Kronlid, D. O., Climate Change Adaptation and Human Capabilities. New York: Palgrave Macmillan US, pp. 31–45. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1057/9781137428042_2.

Lester, J.N., Cho, Y. and Lochmiller, C.R. (2020) 'Learning to Do Qualitative Data Analysis: A Starting Point', Human Resource Development Review, 19(1), pp. 94–106. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1177/1534484320903890.

Lienert, J. and Burger, P. (2015a) 'Merging capabilities and livelihoods: analyzing the use of biological resources to improve well-being', Ecology and Society, 20(2), p. art20. Available at: https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-07405-200220.

Lienert, J. and Burger, P. (2015b) 'Merging capabilities and livelihoods: analyzing the use of biological resources to improve well-being', Ecology and Society, 20(2), p. art20. Available at: https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-07405-200220.

Macedo, J. and Healy, S. (2010) 'The Environmental Impacts of Warehousing Refugees in Camps: A Case Study of Liberian Refugees at the Buduburam Refugee Camp in Accra, Ghana'. Available at: https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.1.4711.7926.

Maslow, Abraham.A. (1943) 'A theory of human motivation.', Psychological Review, p. 50 (4), 370–96.

Mason, J. (2002) Qualitative researching. 2nd ed. London; Thousand Oaks, Calif: Sage Publications.

Mays, N., Pope, C. and Popay, J. (2005) 'Systematically reviewing qualitative and quantitative evidence to inform management and policy-making in the health field', Journal of Health Services Research & Policy, 10(1_suppl), pp. 6–20. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1258/1355819054308576.

McCarthy, J.J. et al. (eds) (2001) Climate change 2001: impacts, adaptation, and vulnerability: contribution of Working Group II to the third assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge, UK; New York: Cambridge University Press.

Ministry of community Development and Social Services (2022) 'Supporting Women's Livelihoods-SWL'. Available at: https://www.mcdss.gov.zm/?page_id=3465 (Accessed: 25 April 2023).

Ministry of Finance and National Planning (2022) 'EIGHTH NATIONAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN-2022-2026'. Government of the Rublic of Zambia. Available at: https://www.zda.org.zm/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/8th-NDP-2022-2026.pdf (Accessed: 27 April 2023).

Ministry of Lands and National Development Planning (2016) 'NATIONAL POLICY ON CLIMATE CHANGE'. GRZ. Available at: https://faolex.fao.org/docs/pdf/zam174957.pdf (Accessed: 7 May 2023).

Ministry of National Development Planing (2016) 'National Policy on Climate Change'. GRZ. Available at: https://www.lse.ac.uk/GranthamInstitute/wp-content/uploads/laws/8142.pdf (Accessed: 4 April 2023).

Ministry of National Development Planning (2017) '7 NATIONAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 2017-2021'. GRZ. Available at: https://www.mcti.gov.zm/?wpfb_dl=34 (Accessed: 8 April 2023).

Momtaz, S. and Shameem, M.I.M. (2016) Experiencing climate change in Bangladesh: vulnerability and adaptation in coastal regions. Amsterdam: Academic Press is an imprint of Elsevier.

Morgan, D. (1993) Successful Focus Groups: Advancing the State of the Art. 2455 Teller Road, Thousand Oaks California 91320 United States: SAGE Publications, Inc. Available at: https://doi.org/10.4135/9781483349008.

Moser, S.C. and Ekstrom, J.A. (2010) 'A framework to diagnose barriers to climate change adaptation', Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 107(51), pp. 22026–22031. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1007887107.

Mukherji, A. et al. (2023) 'SYNTHESIS REPORT OF THE IPCC SIXTH ASSESSMENT REPORT (AR6)'.
Mulenga, B.P., Wineman, A. and Sitko, N.J. (2017a) 'Climate Trends and Farmers' Perceptions of Climate Change in Zambia', Environmental Management, 59(2), pp. 291–306. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-016-0780-5.

Mulenga, B.P., Wineman, A. and Sitko, N.J. (2017b) 'Climate Trends and Farmers' Perceptions of Climate Change in Zambia', Environmental Management, 59(2), pp. 291–306. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-016-0780-5.

Mwape, Y.P. (2009) AN IMPACT OF FLOODS ON THE SOCIO-ECONOMIC LIVELIHOODS OF PEOPLE: A CASE STUDY OF SIKAUNZWE COMMUNITY IN KAZUNGULA DISTRICT OF ZAMBIA. University of the Free State. Available at: https://www.ufs.ac.za/docs/librariesprovider22/disaster-management-training-and-educationcentre-for-africa-(dimtec)-documents/dissertations/2261.pdf?sfvrsn=dafdf821 2.

Narayan, D. et al. (1999) 'Can anyone hear us? Voices From 47 Countries'. Available at: https://www.participatorymethods.org/sites/participatorymethods.org/files/can%20anyone%20hear %20us Narayan.pdf (Accessed: 20 April 2023).

Ngoma, H. et al. (2021) 'Impacts of climate change on agriculture and household welfare in Zambia: an economy-wide analysis', Climatic Change, 167(3–4), p. 55. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-021-03168-z.

Nussbaum, M.C. (2011) Creating capabilities: the human development approach. Cambridge, Mass: Belknap Press of Harvard University Press.

Nyanga, P.H. et al. (2011) 'Smallholder Farmers' Perceptions of Climate Change and Conservation Agriculture: Evidence from Zambia', Journal of Sustainable Development, 4(4), p. p73. Available at: https://doi.org/10.5539/jsd.v4n4p73.

Nzeadibe, T.C. et al. (2012) 'Indigenous innovations for climate change adaptation in the Niger Delta region of Nigeria', Environment, Development and Sustainability, 14(6), pp. 901–914. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10668-012-9359-3.

Othniel Yila, J. and Resurreccion, B.P. (2013) 'Determinants of smallholder farmers' adaptation strategies to climate change in the semi arid Nguru Local Government Area, Northeastern Nigeria', Management of Environmental Quality: An International Journal, 24(3), pp. 341–364. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1108/14777831311322659.

Patton, M.Q. and Cochran, M. (2002) A Guide to Using Qualitative Research Methodology.MédecinsSansFrontières,Paris.https://evaluation.msf.org/sites/evaluation/files/a_guide_to_using_qualitative_research_methodology.pdf

Population and Development Review (2010) 'Effects of Future Climate Change on Cross-Border Migration in North Africa and India', Population and Development Review, 36(2), pp. 408–412. Available at: https://www.jstor.org/stable/25699076 (Accessed: 9 March 2023).

Rankoana, S.A. (2018) 'Human perception of climate change: Human perception of climate change', Weather, 73(11), pp. 367–370. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1002/wea.3204.

Red Cross (2023) Zambia: Flood in Southern Province - DREF Application (MDRZM019) - Zambia | ReliefWeb, R. Available at: https://reliefweb.int/report/zambia/zambia-flood-southern-province-dref-application-mdrzm019 (Accessed: 10 April 2023).

Robeyns, I. (2005) 'The Capability Approach: a theoretical survey', Journal of Human Development, 6(1), pp. 93–117. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/146498805200034266.

Robeyns, I. and Byskov, M.F. (2020) 'The Capability Approach', Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy. Winter 2020 Edition, dward N. Zalta (ed.). Available at: https://plato.stanford.edu/entries/capability-approach/ (Accessed: 3 May 2023).

Robeyns, I. and Byskov, M.F. (2021) 'The Capability Approach', in E.N. Zalta (ed.) The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy. Winter 2021. Metaphysics Research Lab, Stanford University. Available at: https://plato.stanford.edu/archives/win2021/entries/capability-approach/ (Accessed: 20 January 2023).

Schwandt, T. (1994) 'Constructivist, Interpretivist Approaches to Human Inquiry', Handbook of Qualitative Research Thousand Oaks, California: Sage.

Scoones, I. (2009) 'Livelihoods perspectives and rural development', The Journal of Peasant Studies, 36(1), pp. 171–196. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/03066150902820503.

Scotland, J. (2012) 'Exploring the Philosophical Underpinnings of Research: Relating Ontology and Epistemology to the Methodology and Methods of the Scientific, Interpretive, and Critical Research Paradigms', English Language Teaching, 5(9), pp. 9–16. Available at: https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1080001 (Accessed: 14 April 2023).

Siyuba, K. (2021) 'Climate Change Adaptation at District level. A case study of Sioma district in Zambia'. Lund University.

Solomon, S., Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change and Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (eds) (2007) Climate change 2007: the physical science basis: contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge ; New York: Cambridge University Press.

Swennenhuis, J. and Mandima, J. (2012) 'Study on food security strategies in AWF's Kazungula and Zambezi Heartlands in Zambia, Southern Africa'. Available at: https://abcg.org/files/documents/b4e6af68-f772-4122-a467-3c20fcf0187e.pdf (Accessed: 15 April 2023)

Thurlow, J., Zhu, T. and Diao, X. (2008) 'The Impact of Climate Variability and Change on Economic Growth and Poverty in Zambia'. International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI), IFPRI discussion papers.

UNDP (ed.) (2007) Fighting climate change: human solidarity in a divided world. Houndmills: Palgrave Macmillan (Human development report, 2007/08).

UNHCR (2016) Zambia - Border Towns - 31 October 2016, UNHCR Operational Data Portal (ODP). Available at: https://data.unhcr.org/en/documents/details/80445 (Accessed: 17 April 2023).

UNICEF (2023) Cholera Threatens Lives of Children and their Families in Parts of Zambia | UNICEF Zambia. Available at: https://www.unicef.org/zambia/stories/cholera-threatens-lives-zambia (Accessed: 10 April 2023).

UNICEF (no date) Cyclone Idai and Kenneth | UNICEF. Available at: https://www.unicef.org/mozambique/en/cyclone-idai-and-kenneth (Accessed: 12 April 2023).

United Nations Development Programme (2008) 'Overview: Fighting climate change – Human solidarity in a divided world', in United Nations Development Programme, Human Development

Report 2007-2008. UN, pp. 1–18. Available at: https://www.unilibrary.org/content/books/9789210576963c003 (Accessed: 13 November 2022).

United Nations Environment Programme (2022) Emissions Gap Report 2022; The Closing Window — Climate crisis calls for rapid transformation of societies. United Nations Environment Programme. Available at: https://www.unep.org/emissions-gap-report-2022 (Accessed: 4 April 2023).

Weeks, W. and Seath, S. (2016) 'Kazungula Water Supply and Sanitation Project'. Available at: https://cridf.net/RC/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Extlib27.pdf (Accessed: 21 April 2023).

Woolcock, M. and Narayan, D. (2000) 'Social Capital: Implications for Development Theory, Research, and Policy', The World Bank Research Observer, 15(2), pp. 225–249. Available at: https://www.jstor.org/stable/3986417 (Accessed: 5 May 2023).

World Band (2021) Climate Change Knowledge Portal, World Bnak Group. Available at: https://climateknowledgeportal.worldbank.org/ (Accessed: 4 April 2023).

World Bank (2020) Monitoring Small Scale Cross Border Trade in Africa Issues Approaches and Lessons. Available at: https://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/301441606885368757/pdf/Monitoring-Small-Scale-Cross-Border-Trade-in-Africa-Issues-Approaches-and-Lessons.pdf (Accessed: 6 May 2023).

World Bank (2023) The World Bank in Zambia, World Bank. Available at: https://www.worldbank.org/en/country/zambia/overview (Accessed: 8 April 2023).

World Bank Evaluation Group (2007) Document Review. Available at: https://web.worldbank.org/archive/website01006/WEB/IMAGES/11FINAL_.PDF (Accessed: 6 March 2023).

World Bank Group (2023) Agriculture, forestry, and fishing, value added (% of GDP) - Zambia |Data,WorldBank.Availableat:https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NV.AGR.TOTL.ZS?locations=ZM (Accessed: 8 April 2023).

World Meteorological Organization (2023) Tropical Cyclone Freddy may set new record. Available at: https://public.wmo.int/en/media/news/tropical-cyclone-freddy-may-set-new-record (Accessed: 17 April 2023).

Yildiz, A. (2020) 'Nitel Araştırmalar İçin Doğru ve Etkili Veri Toplamanın Tartışılması', Journal of Current Researches on Educational Studies, 10(10 (2)), pp. 17–24. Available at: https://doi.org/10.26579/jocures.55.

Yildiz Yilmaz, N. and Meydan, A. (2020) 'Geographical Education in Primary School Curriculum in Turkey Between 1923-2018*'. Available at: https://doi.org/10.33403/rigeo.710465.

Yin, R.K. (2003) Case study research: design and methods. 3rd ed. Thousand Oaks, Calif: Sage Publications (Applied social research methods series, v. 5).

Yin,R.K.,Bateman,P.G.andMoore,G.(1983)case_studies_and_organizational_innovation_strengthening_the_connection_cosmos_0.pdf.Available

https://study.sagepub.com/system/files/case_studies_and_organizational_innovation_strengthening _the_connection_cosmos_0.pdf (Accessed: 27 February 2023).

Zambia Statistics Agency (2022a) 2022 Census of Population and Housing: Preliminary Report. Zambia Statistics Agency. Available at: https://www.zamstats.gov.zm/ (Accessed: 7 April 2023).

Zambia Statistics Agency (2022b) Zambia's Small Scale Cross Border trade Survey, 2019-2021. Zambia Statistics Agency. Available at: https://eutradesupport.comesa.int/wpcontent/uploads/2022/06/FINAL-SSCBT-Report-13_06_2022.pdf (Accessed: 25 April 2023).

Zata, T., Praise (2016) THE CONTRIBUTION OF CROSS-BORDER TRADE IN MEETING HOUSEHOLD NEEDS IN LÜDERITZ, NAMIBIA. University of Pritoria. Available at: https://repository.up.ac.za/bitstream/handle/2263/57233/Zata_Contribution_2016.pdf?isAllowed=y (Accessed: 10 March 2023).

Zimba, H. (2016) District-Level institutions response to climate change scenarios for small-holder farmer's adaptation: A case of the rainfall variability prone Kazungula District, Southern Province, Zambia. Available at: https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.1.4799.2088.

Annex: 1 - Individual Interview

Thank you for agreeing to participate in the interview. I am a Student from Lund University conducting a study on the impacts of climate change on cross-border traders in the Kazungula district. Your participation is important in helping me to understand the challenges you face as a cross-border trader in the context of climate change. The interview should take about 30-45 minutes.

Theme	Question
Background	1. ID
	2. What is your age range?
	3. How long have you been in Kazungula district?
	4. How long have been a cross-border trader?
	5. What kind of products do you order?
	6. Where do you order and sell your goods?
	7. How long does it take for you to return to Kazungula?
Vulnerability context	a) Changes in Temperature
	1. Do you observe any changes in dry season temperature?
	2. Do you see any changes in the rainy season temperature?
	3. Are there any changes to the length of cold or hot periods?
	b) Changes in rainfall patterns
	1. Do you observe any changes in the amount of rainfall or
	duration of the rainy season?
	2. How is the intensity of rainfall events?
	3. How is the length of dry spells during the rainy season?
Effects climate	
change on livelihood	a) Effects on livelihood Assets
assets	1. How has climate change affected the availability and quality of
	natural resources as a cross-border in Kazungula district?
	2. How has climate change affected your physical environment e.g
	roads

3. How does climate change affects access to social and financial					
resour	rec?				
	Effects on two ding activities				
c)	Effects on trading activities				
	1. Does climate change affect your trading activities? If yes,				
	then how?				
	2. How has climate change affected the profitability of your				
	businesses compared to past years?				
d)	Meeting basic needs				
	1. How have changes in the climate affected your ability to meet				
	household needs such as food, shelter, and water.				
e)) Mobility				
1.	How have the changes in the weather conditions affected your ability to cross to the nearby countries for trade?How does climate change affect access to local markets and				
2.					
	customers?				
	3. How have you benefited from hot/warm temperatures?				
Adaptation and	4. Are there organizations or institutions that support traders				
capabilities	affected by climate change? If yes, what kind of services do				
	they offer?				
	5. How do you conduct your trading activities considering the				
	effect of heat, drought, floods etc?				
	6. What barriers do you encounter in adapting to the effects of				
	climate change?				

Annex 2: Focus Group Discussion

1. Background

Tell me about you background, in terms of the kind of trading activities, how long you have stayed here and countries where you go for your trading activities in Kazungula.

2. Vulnerability context

Have you observed any variations in the occurrence or severity of extreme weather occurrences (such as storms, floods, and droughts) in Kazungula and other areas where you carry out your trading activities?

3. Effects of climate change on livelihood assets (*natural*, *physical*, *human*, *and social*)

Does climate change affect your livelihoods? if so, then how?

Have you noticed any beneficial possibilities or innovations arising from the effects of climate change in Kazungula district?

4. Adaptation and capabilities

How have you adapted your trading activities or strategies in response to the impacts of climate?

Are there any organizations or government programmes that support the adaptation of the cross-border traders?

5. Barriers and challenges

What key barriers and challenges prevent you from adapting to the impacts of climate change?

Annex 3: Introductory Letter



Graduate School

January 26, 2023

Saidi Victor Phiri

Katherine Anderson Ahlstedt Programme Coordinator Graduate School

To whom it may concern,

With this letter we confirm that Saidi Victor Phiri, born May 11, 1992, is a student enrolled in the *Master of Science Programme in Social Scientific Data Analysis* majoring in Social Work, at Lund University, Sweden. The programme runs full-time for two years, from August 30, 2021 to June 4, 2023 and is 120-credits. Saidi Victor Phiri has so far completed 82.5-credits of the programme with good results.

Saidi Victor Phiri is currently register for the master's thesis course *SIMZ51: Master's (Two Years) Thesis in Social Scientific Data Analysis, 30-credits* with a major in Social Work this spring term 2023. As a component of the master's thesis course, Saidi Victor Phiri intends to conduct fieldwork in the Kazungula district in Zambia from February 2 – April 2, 2023 in order to investigate the impacts of climate change on livelihoods. The student's thesis work is being supervised by Professor Max Koch at the School of Social Work at Lund University.

Please do not hesitate to contact us if you have any further questions.

Sincerely,

Katherine Anderson Ahlstedt Programme Coordinator Graduate School Lund University



Postal address Box 117, SE-221 00 Lund, Sweden Visiting address Sandgatan 13A, Lund, Sweden Telephone +46 46 222 00 00 E-mail master@sam.lu.se Website https://www.graduateschool.sam.lu.se 1

Annex 4: Interview Nodes

Name	Description	Files	References
Adaptation		8	25
diversify		8	15
Barriers			
Lack of customers		6	8
Restrictions		6	10
Transportation		8	9
Cross-border countries			
Botswana		7	14
Namibia		1	1
South Africa		1	2
Zambia		3	2
Zimbabwe		1	1
Custormers			
Civil servants		5	8
farmers		6	9
Local people		8	15
Retail stores		1	1
Track drivers		4	7
Effects of climate change			
Health		3	4
loss of profits		4	6
Mobility		8	16
No effect		2	2
Perishable products		2	4
Impacts on trade		4	11
Knowledge about climate chnage			
Drought		5	10
floods		3	4
High temperature		8	18
Reduced Rainfall		7	14
Unpredictable wheather		5	8
meeting basic needs			
dificult to meet basic needs		5	9

Farmer trader relations	3	4
opportunities	0	0
Good market	1	1
Power relations	2	5
Social capital and support systems		
Associations	2	3
village banking	2	4
Empowerment programme	5	1
Type of business		
Beddings or clothes	4	7
cosmetics	2	4
farm products	2	9
Glossaries	2	5
Household goods	2	2
shoes	2	8